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LETTERS OF TRANSMITTAL AND CERTIFICATION

26 April 1996

sir,

Pursuant to financial regulation 16.1, we have the honour to submit the
financial statements of the United Nations Development Programme for the
biennium ended 31 December 1995, which we hereby approve.

Copies of these financial statements are alsc being transmitted to the
Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions.

We, the undersigned, acknowledge that:

the Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the
financial information included in this report;

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the United
Nations System Accounting Standards and include certain amounts that are
based on Management’s best estimates and judgements;

established accounting procedures and related systems of intermal control
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, that the books
and records properly reflect all transactions and that policies and
procedures are implemented by qualified personnel with an appropriate
segregation of duties. UNDP internal auditors continually review the
accounting and control systems;

the Management provided the United Nations Board of Auditors and UNDP
internal auditors with full and free access to all accounting and financial
recoxds;

the recommendations of the United Nations Board of Auditors and UNDP
internal auditors are reviewed by the Management. Control procedures have
been implemented or revised, as appropriate, in response to those
recommendations.

We each certify that, to the best of our knowledge, information and belief,
all material transactions have been properly charged in the accounting records

and are properly reflected in the appended financial statements.

Accept, Sir, the assurances of our highest consideration.

{Signed) James Gustave SPETH ~ (Signed) BAlan M. POTTER
Adminigtrator of the Acting Director
United Nations Development Programme Division of Finance

United Nations Development Programme

The Chairman of the Board of Auditors
United Nations
New York
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31 July 1996

Sir,

I have the honour to transmit to you the financial statements of the United
Nations Development Programme for the biennium 1992-1993 ended 31 December 1595,
which were submitted by the Administrator. These statements have been examined
and include the audit opinion of the Board of Auditors.

In addition, I have the honour to present the report of the Board of
Auditors with respect to the above accounts.

Accept, Sir, the assurances of my highest consideration.

(Signed) Osei Tutu PREMPEH
Auditor General of Ghana
and Chairman
United Nations Board of Auditors

The President of the General Assembly
of the United Nations
New York




I. FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE BIENNIUM ENDED 31 DECEMBER 139585

1. The Administrator has the honour to submit his financial report for the
biennium ended 31 December 1995, together with the audited financial statements
of the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) for the biennium ended

31 December 1995 and the report of the Board of Auditors. This submission is
made in conformity with the Financial Regulations of the United Nations
Development Programme. The financial statements consist of statements and
schedules, accompanied by notes which are an integral part of the financial
statements, and cover all funds for which the Administrator is responsible.

2. The UNDP financial statements incorporate expenditure data obtained from
the executing agencies. As far as possible, the data are obtained from the
agencies’ audited statements or, when such statements are not available at the
time of the year-end closing of the UNDP accounting records, either from the
agencies’ statements as submitted for audit or from the agencies’ unaudited
statements.

3. As at the date of preparation of the present financial statements, the
status of information received from the executing agencies was as follows:

(a) Audited statements were provided by the following executing agencies:
World Tourism Organization

(b) Statements as submitted for audit were provided by the following

executing agencies:

African Development Bank

Arab Fund for Economic and Social Development

Asian Development Bank

Economic and Social Commigsion for Asia and the Pacific

Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia

Economic Commission for Africa

Economic Commission for Europe

Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

International Atomic Energy Agency

International Civil Aviation Organization

International Finance Corporation

International Labour Organization

International Maritime Organization

International Monetary Fund

Internatiocnal Telecommunication Union

International Trade Centre

United Nations




United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat)
United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
United Nations Environment Programme

United Nations Industrial Development Organization
United Nations Institute for Training and Research
United Nations Office for Project Services

Universal Postal Union

World Bank

World Health Organization

World Intellectual Property Organization

World Meteorological Organization

Changes in accounting practices and policies in the biennium
Finapncial regulationg and rules
4. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the

financial regulations for UNDP which were approved by the Executive Board.

Accounting policies
5. A summary of significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

the financial statements is provided in note 2 to the financial statements. The
policies are the same as those applied in the 31 December 1993 financial
statements.

Pregentation of accounts

Format:

6. Following the recommendation by the Administrative Committee on
Coordination (ACC) on the common inter-organization accounting standards and a
harmonized presentation of financial statements, UNDP has adopted the
recommended format for the biennium ended 31 December 1995. The new
presentation distinguishes the different types of funds which are managed by
UNDP. Within the UNDP account, a separate disclosure was made for the
activities of the Inter-Agency Procurement Services Office {IAPSO) and the
Reserve for Field Accommodation.

7. The comparative figures of the prior biennium were not presented because of
the difficulty in reconstituting prior biennium statements in the new format,
which was fully acknowledged by the ACC and not mandated for the first year.

United Nations Office for Project Services accounts:

8. The Executive Board agreed to the establishment of the United Nations
Office for Project Services (UNOPS) as a separate and identifiable entity
effective 1 January 1995.



S. Consequently, the financial activities of UNOPS after 31 December 1994 are
no longer included in the UNDP financial statements. 1In order to present the
financial activities of UNDP exclusive of UNOPS for the entire biennium, a
provisional statement which excluded UNOPS activities from 1 January to

31 December 1994 is presented in note 21.

Combined statement of income and expenditure for the

biennium ended 31 December 1995

10. Table 1 presents a combined statement of income and expenditure for the
biennium ended 31 December 1955 in respect of the UNDP account, the UNDP-
administered trust funds, the management service agreements and the Junior
Professional Officers programme. It provides an overall view of the financial
activities during the biennium of all funds for which the Administrator is
responsible. The balance of each fund as at 31 December 1955 represents the
recorded value of the net assets of each fund as at that date, exclusive of
fully funded reserves.

11. When the UNDP General Fund and IAPSO are combined, there has been an
overall increase in income from $2,879.0 million in the 1992-1993 biennium to
$3,259.6 million in the 1994-1995 biennium. Overall expenditure decreased from
$2,824.3 million to $2,768.0 million. Net surplus income increased from

$54.7 million to $491.6 million.




Table 1. Combined income and expenditure for the biennium ended 31 December 1995

{Millions of United States dollars)

Adjusted Balance
balance as at as at
1 January 1994 Income Expenditure 31 December 1995
Source of funds
UNDP _Account
Voluntary contributions and other income 133.0 1 955.2 16220 466.2
Special Measures Fund for the Least
Developed Countries 17.8 - 5.1 12.7
Cost-sharing contributions 204.5 11974 1024.1 377.8
Cash counterpart contributions 6.5 18.6 14.1 1.0
Extrabudgetary activities ' 55.3 83.3 _.98.7 9.9
Sub-total (statement iV) 417.1 3 2545 764.0 807.6
IAPSO {schedule 7) 0.4 5.3 4.0 1.7
Funds and Trust Funds
United Nations Capital Development Fund
{schedule 8) 95.7 81.5 100.0 77.2
United Nations Revolving Fund for Natural
Resources Exploration {schedule 8} 2.3 2.8 1.9 3.2
Trust Fund to Combat Desertification
and Drought {UNSO) {schedule 8} 349 12.6 23.2 243
United Nations Volunteers Programme
(schedule 8) 16.8 31.6 22.1 26.3
United Nations Fund for Science and
Technology for Development {schedule 8) 1.8 0.3 1.0 1.1
United Nations Development Fund for
Women {schedule 8) 10.7 34.4 37.3 7.8
UNDP Energy Account (schedule 8) 4.0 3.7 3.0 4.7
Trust funds for the Global Environmental Facility 18.3 131.1 104.2 45,2
"Capacity 21" Trust Funds 19.2 29.8 8.8 40.2
Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the
Montreal Protocol 18.6 .91 37.5 72.2
Other trust funds administered by UNDP
{schedule 8.1} 72.1 239.4 162.5 149.0
294.4 658.3 501, 451.2
Management service agreements (schedule 12) 74.0 287.3 3079 53.4
Junior Professional Officers’
programme (schedule 11} 6.1 47.5 46.6 7.0
Total 792.0 42529 36240 14209



UNDP_General Fund

12. BAs shown in the statement of income and expenditure (statement I), total
income of the UNDP General Fund for the biennium ended 31 December 1995 was
$3,254.4 million, total expenditure was $2,764.0 million, and the surplus of
income over expenditure was $490.4 million.

13. Statement IV shows the surplus of income over expenditure of $490.4 million
attributable as follows:

(a) a surplus of $333.1 million in respect of UNDP general resources;

(b) a deficit of $5.1 million in respect of the Special Measures Fund for
the Least Developed Countries;

(c) a surplus of $173.3 million in respect of cost-sharing contributions;

(d) a surplus of $4.5 million in respect of cash counterpart
contributions;

{e) a deficit of $15.4 million in respect of extrabudgetary activities.
14. Statement III presents cash flows; it shows that cash and investments held
by UNDP increased from $954.0 million at the beginning of the biennium to

$1,577.3 million as at 31 December 1595.

Government contributions

15. Voluntary contributions decreased by $243.2 million to $1,835.5 million
compared to $2,078.7 million in the 1992-1993 biennium. Cost-sharing
contributions increased significantly, from $669.6 million in the 1992-1593
biennium to $1,197.4 million in the 1994-1995 biennium.

16. The arrears of Govermment contributions to UNDP amounted to $266.2 million
as at 31 December 15995, as shown in note 3 to the financial statements. This
represented a net increase of $56.3 million over the position as at

31 December 1993, when those arrears amounted to $209.9 million, and is mainly
attributable to the increase in outstanding cost-sharing contributions of

$63.5 millicn and cash-counterpart contributions of $5.8 million, partly offset
by a $13.0 million decrease in voluntary contributions.

Extrabudgetary activities

17. As shown in schedule 7, extrabudgetary expenditure in the biennium
1994-1995 amounted to $98.7 million. Income received for those activities
totalled $83.3 million, and the unexpended balance as at 31 December 1995 wasg
$39.9 million. During the same period, IAPSO earned $5.3 million extrabudgetary
income. Total expenditure amounted to $4.0 million, leaving an unexpended
balance of $1.7 million.

Programme expenditure and programme support cost

18. Total programme expenditure for the 1994-1995 biennium was
$2,014.1 million, a decrease of $29.7 million compared to $2,043.8 million for
the 1992-1993 biennium. Schedule 5 gives details of programme expenditure.




UNDP_biennial budget

19. At its third regular segsion in September 1995, the Executive Board
approved total appropriations of $537.7 million to finance programme support and
administrative services costs under UNDP and the funds administered by UNDP for
the biennium 1994-1995.

20. This represented an increase in appropriations of $2.4 million over the
revised biennial budget approved by the Executive Board at its third regular
sesgion in June 1994, and a $18.0 million decrease over the original
appropriations approved at the fortieth session of the Governing Council, in
1993.

21. Detailed information on the gross expenditure incurred against the revised
appropriations for the biennium 1994-1995 is given in schedule 2 in respect of
the costs met from the resources of UNDP, UNCDF, UNRFNRE and UNFSTD, UNSO and
UNIFEM.

22. An appropriation of $31.1 million was approved for the 1994-1995 biennium
by the Executive Board at its third regular session in October 1994 for the then
UNDP Office for Project Services, against which $12.6 million of expenditure was
incurred for 1994. Expenditures for 1995 against this appropriation are not
reflected in the statements as they are disclosed separately in the 1995
financial statements of UNOPS.

23. Table 2 shows, for each appropriation line, the total appropriation, the
net actual expenditure for the biennium 1994-1995 and the resulting unencumbered
balance. '

Property written off, ex gratia payments and write-offs of cash and receivables

24. In accordance with UNDP financial regulation 14.4, UNDP non-expendable
property in the amount of $722,614 was written off during the biennium.

25. Ex gratia payments in the amount of $1,464 were made in the biennium
1994-1995 under UNDP financial regulation 14.3.

26. 1In the biennium 1994-1995, write-offs of cash and accounts receivable
amounting to $178,004 were approved under UNDP financial regulation 14.4 and
financial rule 114.15. Details of all amounts written off were made available
to the Board of Auditors.




Table 2. Budget appropriations and expenditure for the biennium 1994-1995

{Thousands of United States dollars)

Total Expenditure Unencumbered
appropriations for the biennium balance
. RESOURCES OF UNDP
A. UNDP core activities
Headquarters 148 568 147 804 764
Country Office 230 306 216 567 13739
Gross UNDP core activities 378 874 364 371 14 503
Income received 36 700 36 343 357
Net UNDP core activities 342 174 328 028 J4 146
B. Programme support_and development activities
Programme development activities 25 981 22 629 3 352
Support to the operational activities of the
United Nations 93 157 88 456 4 701
Project/programme fmplememation services
Development support services 6225 6 289 (64)
Inter-Agency Procurement Services Office 6 140 5138 1002
United Nations Volunteers programme 33 620 33 612 8
National execution __3263 _ 2906 357
Total project/programme implementation
services 49 248 47 945 1303
Programme support 2 300 2048 252
Total programme support and development
activities 170 686 61 078 2 608
Total resources of UNDP 512 860 489 106 23 754
1. RESOURCES OF FUNDS
United Nations Capital Development Fund 10 652 8 782 1870
United Nations Revolving Fund for Natural
Resources and United Nations Fund for
Science and Technology for Development 1653 1253 400
United Nations Sudanc-Sahelian Office 6 615 5 639 976
United Nations Development Fund for Women 5913 5 598 _315
Total resources of Funds 24 833 21 272 3 561
TOTAL 537 693 510 378 27 315




Trust funds administered by UNDP

27. At the beginning of the biennium, UNDP had, under its administration,

85 trust funds and 71 sub-trust funds. In 1994-1995, 41 new trust funds and

51 sub-trust funds were established by the Administrator, and 7 trust funds and
16 sub-trust funds were closed. BAs at 31 December 1995, UNDP was administering
119 trust funds and 106 sub-trust funds.

28. Of the 119 trust funds, financial statements for 118 were prepared and are
shown in schedules 8 and 8.1. The status of sub-trust funds is shown in
schedule 10. Financial statements were not prepared for those trust funds and
sub-trust funds which did not have any financial activity during the 1994-1995
biennium., Budget appropriations for the biennium 1994-1995 for the United
Nations Capital Development Fund, United Nations Revolving Fund for Natural
Resources Exploration, United Nations Fund for Science and Technology for
Development, Trust Fund to Combat Desertification and Drought and United Nations
Development Fund for Women are shown in schedule 2.
29. The following trust funds were established during the biennium:
UNDP Trust Fund for the Commonwealth of Independent States
UNDP/Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation
(NOVIB) /Group of Resource Persons for Awareness Creation for Environment
and Sustainable Development in Asia

UNDP/Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA} Trust Fund for
Non-Formal Education: Youth Centres Programme

UNDP Trust Fund for the Mozambique Mine-clearance Programme
Support to the Joint Group in El Salvador
UNDP Trust Fund for Urgent Human Needs in Uzbekistan

sweden Trust Fund for Making the Human Development Report and the Human
Development Index Gender Sensitive

UNDP/International Centre for Sustainable Cities

UNDP/IDA Trust Fund for the National Environment Support Programme in
Mozambique

Trust Fund in Support of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Kyrgyzstan

Trust Fund in Support of National Capacity-building in External Aid
| Resources Management

Trust Fund for the German Edition of the EHuman Development Report

Trust Fund for Support to a Financial Systems Development Project, Angola
Phase II

Trust Fund for the Aral Sea Basin Programme

Trust Fund on the United Nations Consolidated Inter-Agency Appeal for
Tajikistan




UNDP/Development Network (DEVNET) Trust Fund for Technological Information
Pilot Systems

Sweden Trust Fund for Support to Demining Programmes in Cambodia through
the Cambodia Mine Action Centre

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Science, Technology and
Environment Operation in Lao People’s Democratic Republic

Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Cambodia Resettlement and
Reintegration Programme

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Comprehensive Disabled Afghans
Programme

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Programme for Refugee
Reintegration and Rehabilitation of Resettlement Areas in Eritrea

UNDP/Switzerland Pooling Agreement for Technical Assistance to the Health
Sector

UNDP/Denmark Trust Fund for the Local Initiative Facility for Urban
Environment (LIFE) in Urban Areas in Thailand

UNDP/Japan Trust Fund in Support of Reintegration Activities in Haiti

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund to Support Improved Handling of Property Issues in
Nicaragua

UNDP Trust Fund for Rwanda
Europe to Beijing: Gender in Development Trust Fund
Support to the Employment Generation Programme in Gaza

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund to Support Reconstruction and Reconciliation
Activities in Burundi

UNDP/Lao People’s Democratic Republic Trust Fund for Clearance of
Unexploded Ordnance

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Rural Rehabilitation Programme in
Afghanistan

UNDP Trust Fund to Support the Peace Process in North Mali

UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to Integrated Crop and Food Production
in Afghanistan

UNDP Trust Fund for the Evaluation of UNIFEM
UNDP/Spain Trust Fund for Support for Governance in Central America

UNDP Trust Fund for Sustainable Social Development, Peace and Support to
Countries in Special Situations

UNDP Trust Fund for the World Summit on Social Development




UNDP Trust Fund for Angola
Trust Fund with Norway for Support for Governance in Africa

Swedish Trust Fund on Efficiency and Effectiveness-enhancing Measures
within UNDP

UNDP Trust Fund for Support to the Resident Coordinator System

30. Of the 41 new trust funds listed, four did not have any financial activity
during the biennium. Financial statements were not prepared for those funds.

31. The following trust funds were closed during the biennium:

UNDP Trust Fund for Support to the Programmes of the Ministry of Planning
of Costa Rica

UNDP Trust Fund for Social Mobilization for Development
Rehabilitation Assistance to Anhui Province following Flood Disaster

Trust Fund for the Training in the Russian Federation of Specialists from
Developing Countries

UNDP Trust Fund for the Inter-Parliamentary Union
Family Health Internatiocnal Trust Fund

UNDP Trust Fund for the Independent International Commission on Health
Research for Developing Countries

Of the seven closed trust funds listed, two did not have any financial
activities during the biennium. Financial statements were not prepared for
those funds.

United Nations Capital Development Fund

32. As shown in schedule 8, the total income of the United Nations Capital
Development Fund was $81.5 million and expenditures totalled $100.0 million,
resulting in a surplus expenditure of $18.5 million in 1994-1995. Biennial
budget expenditure totalled $8.8 million, as shown in schedule 2. The Fund
maintains an operational reserve of at least 20 per cent of its project
commitments, in accordance with the decision of the Governing Council at its
twenty-sixth session, in 1979. 2As at 31 December 1995, the balance of the
operational reserve was $40.2 million. Unexpended resources as at

31 December 1995, exclusive of the operational reserve, totalled £77.2 million.

33. As at 31 December 1995, unspent allocations amounted to $209.5 million, of
which $204.3 million represented commitments for project activities funded from
the Fund’s general resources. This amount exceeded available resources by
$130.3 million, reflecting the decision made by the Governing Council, at its
twenty-gixth session, to ¢ontinue the partial funding system and, at its thirty-
fourth session, to modify the formula covering the ceiling on commitments. 2As
indicated in note 23 to the financial statements, the partial funding system
allows a maximum of $226.3 million outstanding future allocations.




34. The Fund had nine sub-trust funds in 1994-1955. The status of those
sub-trust funds is shown in schedule 10.

United Nations Reveolving Fund for Natural Resources Exploration

35. As shown in schedule 8, the total income of the United Nations Revolving
Fund for Natural Resources Exploration was $2.8 million and expenditures
totalled $1.9 million, resulting in a surplus income of $0.9 million in
1994-1995. Biennial budget expenditure amounted to $0.9 millicn, as shown in
schedule 2. Unexpended resocurces as at 31 December 1595 totalled $3.2 million,
of which $0.4 million had been committed to project activities.

36. The Fund had two sub-trust funds in 1994-1995. The status of those
sub-trust funds is shown in schedule 10.

Trust Fund to Combat Desertification and Drought

37. At the fortieth segsion of the Executive Board, the mandate of the United
Nations Trust Fund for Sudano-Sahelian Activities was enlarged beyond the

22 Sahelian countries to extend to all countries affected by drought and
degertification. In line with this decision, the Administrator established, in
1995, the Trust Fund to Combat Desertification and Drought. The activities of
the two funds were consclidated for the 1994-1595 biennium and are shown in
schedule 8 and note 25.

38. As shown in schedule 8, the Fund’s total income was $12.6 million and
expenditures totalled $23.2 million, resulting in a surplus expenditure of
$10.6 million in 1994-1995. Biennial budget expenditure amounted to

$5.6 million, as shown in schedule 2. Unexpended resources as at

31 December 1995 totalled $24.3 million, of which $14.9 million had been
committed to project activities.

39. The Fund had 12 sub-trust funds in 1994-15995. The status of those
sub-trust funds is shown in schedule 10.

United Nations Volunteers

40. In 1994-1995, the fund for the United Nations Volunteers Programme earned
total income of $31.6 million and incurred expenditures amounting to

$22.1 million, as shown in schedule 8, resulting in a surplus income of

$9.4 million. TUnexpended resources as at 31 December 1995 totalled

$26.3 million, of which $12.9 million represented general resources and

$13.4 million represented sub-trust funds resources. A total of $4.5 million of
the unspent allocations against general resources represented estimated
commitments in respect of repatriation travel and resettlement allowances for
gerving volunteers as at 31 December 1995,

41. The Fund had 62 sub-trust funds in 1994-1995. The status of those
sub-trust funds is shown in schedule 10.

United Nations Fund for Science and Technology for Development

42. The total income of the United Nations Fund for Science and Technology for
Development was $0.3 million and expenditures totalled $0.9 million in
1994-1595, resulting in a surplus expenditure of $0.6 million as shown in
schedule 8. Expenditure for the biennium amounted to $0.3 million, as shown in

~-1i-




schedule 2. Unexpended resources totalled $1.1 million as at 31 December 1995,
of which $0.7 million had been committed to project activities.

43, The Fund had 9 sub-trust funds in 1994-1995. The status of those sgsub-trust
funds is shown in schedule 10.

United Nations Development Fund for Women

44. Schedule 8 shows total income of the United Nations Development Fund for
Women of $34.3 million and expenditure totalling $37.3 million in 1994-1995,
resgulting in a surplus expenditure of $3.0 million. Expenditure for the
biennium amounted to $5.6 million, as shown in schedule 2. Unexpended resources
ag at 31 December 1995, totalled $7.8 million. Unspent allocations amounted to

. $20.7 million.

45. The requirement for an operational reserve was temporarily suspended by the
Executive Board at its annual session in 1995. It requested, however, that to
ensure financial transparency, a notional reserve is reported using the sgliding
percentage. The operational reserve would have been set at §8.5 million, as
described in note 28.

46. The Fund had 10 sub-trust funds in 1994-1995. The status of those
sub-trust funds is shown in schedule 10.

Global Environment Facility

47. As shown in schedule 8, the total income of the Trust Fund for the Global
Environment Facility in 1994-1995 was $131.1 million and expenditure totalled
$104.2 million, resulting in a surplus income of $26.9 million. The Trust
Fund’s unexpended resources as at 31 December 1995 totalled $45.2 million, of
which $34.0 million represented general resources. Unspent allocations for
projects funded from general resources amounted to $133.8 million. Allocations
in excess of resources were issued on the basis of letters of commitments from
the World Bank confirming allocations of 5344.5 million to UNDP, as discussed in
note 30 to the financial statements.

48, The Trust Fund had three sub-trust funds in 1994-1995. Schedule 10 shows
the status of those sub-trust funds.

"Capacity 21% Trust Fund

49. As shown in schedule 8, the total income of the "Capacity 21" Trust Fund
was $29.8 million during the 1994-1995 biennium and expenditures amounted to
$8.8 million. The Fund’s unexpended resources amounted to $40.2 million as at
31 December 1995, of which $13.7 million had been committed to project
activities.

50. The Trust Fund had one sub-trust fund in 1994-1995. Schedule 10 shows the
status of that sub-trust fund.

Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol

51. The Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocel was
formerly named the Trust Fund for the Interim Multilateral Fund undexr the
Montreal Protocol. The Fund had total income of $91.1 million and expenditure
of §37.5 million, as shown in schedule 8, during the biennium. Unexpended




resources as at 31 December 1995 totalled $72.2 million, of which $46.2 million
had been committed to project activities.

52. The Trust Fund had one sub-trust fund in 1994-1995. Schedule 10 shows the
status of that sub-trust fund.
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I3i. REPCRT CF THE BOARD OF AUDITORS

Introduction

1. The Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements of the United
Nations Development Programme (UNDP) for the period 1 January 1994 to

31 December 1995, in accordance with General Assembly resolution 74 (I) of

7 December 1946, and article XVII of the Financial Regulations of UNDP. The
audit has been conducted in conformity with article XII of the Financial
Regulations and Rules of the United Nations and the annex thereto, and the
Common Auditing Standards of the Panel of External Auditors of the United
Nations, the specialized agencies and the International Atomic Energy Agency.
These standards require that the Board plans and performs the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material
migstatement.

Audit obijectives and approach

2. The Board’s audit included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The examination was
based on an assessment of UNDP accounting systems and controls and a test audit
in which all areas of the financial statements were subject to direct
substantive testing of transactions. The audit alsoc included an assessgment of
the accounting principles used and sgignificant estimates made by Management, as
well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the financial gtatements.
The audits were conducted at UNDP headquarters in New York and at country
offices in Brazil, China, Ethiopia, Lao People’s Democratic Republic, Morocco
and the United Republic of Tanzania. The Board considers that its approach
provides a reasonable basis for its opinion. While the financial statements are
the respongibility of UNDP Management, the responsibility of the Board is to
express an cpinion as to whether, based on its audit, the financial statements
present fairly the financial position of UNDP as at 31 December 1995.

3. The Board’s examination included a general review and such tests of the
accounting records and other supporting evidence as it considered necessary in
the circumstances. These audit procedures are designed primarily for the
purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of UNDP.

4, In addition to its audit of the accounts and financial transactions, the
Board carried out reviews under article 12.5 of the United Nations Financial
Regulations. The reviews primarily concern the efficiency of the financial
procedures, the internal financial controls and, in general, the administration
and management of UNDP.

5. In the biennium 1994-1995, the Board examined the following areas:

(a) national execution; (b} budgetary formulation and performance reporting;
{c} management of trust funds and other funds administered by UNDP; and

{d) interxnal audit.

6. A list of the Board’s principal conclusions and recommendations is found in
paragraphs ¢ to 14. A summary of main findings, arising from the Board’s work,
is reported in paragraphs 15 to 61. The detailed findings are reported in
paragraphs 62 to 240.
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Action taken on recommendations in previous reports
to _the General Assembly

7. As requested by the General Assembly in its resolution 47/211 of

23 December 1992, the Board carried out a review of the measures taken by UNDP
in response to the recommendations made by the Board in its audit report for the
biennium ended 31 December 1993. Details of the actions taken and the comments
of the Board are set out in the annex to the present report.

Overall resgults

8. Except for the restriction on the scope of the audit described in
paragraphs 64 to 68, the Board’'s examination revealed no weaknesses or errors
considered material to the accuracy or completeness of the financial statements
as a whole. In accordance with normal procedures, the Board recorded
significant findings in management letters to UNDP.

Conclugions and recommendations
Financial matters

9. The Board’s financial audit examination identified several matters which it
considers should be addressed by UNDP. Specifically, the Board recommends that:

Programme expenditure incurred by Governments and executing agencies

{a) UNDP should supplement its existing approach by ensuring that all
projects with significant expenditure are audited independently (see para. 70);

Management of the Resexve for Field Accommodation

{b) UNDP should establish appropriate controls to coordinate and monitor
payments made in the field and at headquarters under the same contracts (see
para. 85);

(c) UNDP should ascertain whether any payments to contractors,
subcontractors or the architect were outside the terms of the contract and, if
so, should take appropriate recovery steps (see para. 103).

Management issues
al execution

10. The Board recognizes the need to sustain the impetus towards national
execution becoming the norm for the delivery of UNDP projects and programmes.
The Board concluded, however, that UNDP should pay more attention to preparing
government institutions before introducing or expanding national execution in
recipient countries. The Board considers that the successful expansion of
national execution has three prerequisites:

(a) UNDP needs to establish standards of the capacities of Governments to
manage and deliver national execution projects;

{(b) country offices, in association with Governments, need to assess
Governments’ existing capacities against those standards;
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{c) UNDP, in association with Governments, needs to formulate projects
designed to deal with any gaps or weaknesses in Governments’ capacities to bring
them up to the required standards.

11. The Board recommends that:

{a) the objectives of national execution be clearly defined to provide a
closer link with UNDP’s overall development aimes (see para. 120);

(b) UNDP should issue new guidance on national execution which reflects
all the relevant legislation and national execution’s objectives and which
strengthens and delineates UNDP's accountability requirements (see para. 125);

(¢) TUNDP should re-emphasize the need to assess the Govermment’'s capacity
to undertake a national execution project (see para. 142);

(d} UNDP should develop capacity assessment guidelines, incorporating
standards of Governments’ capacity to undertake national execution projects, and
provide training to country offices and Governments, to help them carry out
strategic capacity assessments (see para. 142);

(e} TUNDP should establish an evaluation strategy to provide a
comprehensive assessment of the progress and achievements of natiocnal execution
{(see para. 154);

(f) UNDP should initiate thematic evaluations of sustainability, capacity-
building and cost-effectiveness, incorporating direct comparisons, where
possible, between national execution and other execution approaches {see
para. 154} ;

{g) UNDP should initiate a further review of the utilization and impact of
the Technical Support Services (TSS 2) facility (see para. 156)};

(h) UNDP should develop, in association with the agencies, the information
systems required to cocllect data for national execution performance indicators
(see para. 158).

Budgeta formulation and performance reportin
12. The Board recommends that UNDP:

{(a)} carry out work measurement exercises of country offices’ activities to
help strengthen its budgetary formulation process at the local level, provide
benchmarking data for country offices and compile standard performance

indicators (see para. 168);

{(b) develop a means for reporting achievement of the activities provided
for in the budget (see para. 172).

Management of trust funds
13. The Board recommends that:
{a) UNDP should ensure that there is a clear and demonstrable analysis of

the mandates of the funds and their contribution to all of UNDP’s corporate
objectives (see para. 178);
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{b) the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) and the United
Nations Capital Development Fund (UNCDF) should draw up a strategy, setting out
their long-term business objectives and approaches for achieving their mandate
and objectives (see paras. 183 and 184);

(c) UNDP and UNIFEM should prepare and implement a plan, with a clearly
defined timetable, to replace UNIFEM's budget management gsystem with a system
which is integrated with UNDP’‘s main financial system (see para. 194);

(d) TUNDP should establish a monitoring and evaluation strategy, with
clearly defined criteria for selecting programmes for joint monitoring reviews
and projects for evaluation (see para. 199).

Intexrnal audit

14. The Board recommends that:

(a) the Division for Audit and Management Review’s non-audit function of
updating manuals should be transferred to an operational unit (see para. 212);

(b) in drawing up its plans, the Division should assess and record the
resource implications and skills needed for the work proposed, taking account of
ad hoc demands (see para. 225);

{(c) the Division should clearly document the criteria used to select
subjects proposed for review; the criteria should include materiality, known and
potential risks and the timeliness of the proposed audit {see para. 229);

(d) all audit sections should produce long-term audit plans identifying
proposals covering their audit fields and any resulting resource changes needed
(see para. 229);

{e) the Division should establish standard documentation clearly setting
out the audit procedures undertaken and the findings and conclusions, and it
should update its permanent files with basic information on the auditees (see
para. 230);

(f) the Division should survey the risks associated with the operation of
headquarters computer systems and provide audit coverage as appropriate {=zee
para. 233);

(g) the Division should establish procedures to follow up on actions taken
by UNDP and the United Nations Office for Project Services in response to

internal audit recommendations to demonstrate the improvements made (see
para. 237).

Summary of findings

Financial statements

On_accounting and reporting standards

15. ©UNDP did not provide prior period figures in its financial statements for
the first period of reporting in the revised format, as these were difficult to
reconstitute in the revised format (see paras. 62 and 63).
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On programme expenditure incurred by Governments and executing agencies

i6. .Out of an expenditure of $1,135 million incurred in 1994-1955 on nationally
executed projects, UNDP did not receive independent audit certificates in
respect of $366 million (see paras. 64-68).

17. With the rapid growth in national execution projects, UNDP’s current
strategy for obtaining audit assurance of this expenditure does not provide
sufficient accountability (see paras. 69-71).

18. A number of the audit opinions received on national execution projects
included scope restrictions relating to expenditures incurred by UNDP on behalf
of nationally executed projects. UNDP was initiating a review of the
accountability process (see paras. 72 and 73).

On _the Regerve for Field Accommodation

19. Total disbursements against the Reserve for Field Accommodation reached
346.8 million ($54.8 million gross) by 31 December 1935, which was $21.8 million
{$29.8 million gross) in excess of the authorized level of 525 million (see
paras. 74-77).

20. UNDP obtained a detailed analysis of disbursements made against the
Reserve. In aggregate, UNDP had paid $39.3 million against fixed price
construction contracts valued at $27.9 million. A further $5.6 million remained
outstanding in invoices received but not paid. UNDP tock action to strengthen
the financial and management control of the Reserve (see paras 78-82).

21. Payments made to contractors against the construction projects were
certified on the basis of an architect’s certificate, without adeguate,
independent supporting documents. There were significant shortcomings in the
exercise of the certifying and approving officers’ functions, and the approval
of the Contracts Committee was not obtained to sanction increases beyond
contract amounts. UNDP has established a working group to address the
breakdowns in internal controls (see paras. 83-91).

22. UNDP is examining payments of $11.7 million paid directly to subcontractors
to ascertain whether the supplies and works scheduled therein were omitted or
excluded from the main contracts and, if not, to ensure that appropriate
deductions were made to the amount due to the main contractors (see

paras. 93-95).

23. The architect responsible for overseeing seven of the construction projects
was hired without proper checks as to his qualifications, experience and
capacity to undertake the work (see paras. $6-98).

24. For four of the projects, UNDP paid the architect on the basis of a
percentage of the actual construction costs rather than a percentage of the
contracted costs as provided in the contract (see paras. 99 and 100).

25. The architect was paid $3.8 million over six years against contracts valued
at $51.28 million, representing apparent overpayments of $2.52 million. UNDP has
started an in-depth review into the contractual arrangements with the architect
and his performance under the contracts (see paras. 100-103).

26. By 31 December 1995, UNDP had received $3.65 million of $12.2 million
estimated as due from other United Nations agencies (see para. 104).
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On_staff separations

27. UNDP had reduced the number of core posts by 259 by the end of 1995 and had
projected a further reduction of 344 posts in 1996-1997 (see paras. 107 and:
108). -

Ny

Management issues

National execution

On national execution objectives

28. There was no single, definitive statement of the objectives of national
execution (see paras. 118-120).

On support for the development of national execution

29. Existing guidelines on national execution, now up to eight years old, were
inadequate for UNDP’s current circumstances (see paras. 121-126).

30. The country offices which the Board visited did not have plans to phase out
long-term direct support to Governments; this is not consistent with the
objective of promoting self-reliance (see paras. 127-131).

On_the assesgsgment of national execution capacities

31. There was inconsistency between UNDP guidance and Governing Council
decisions on who was responsible for undertaking assessments of Governments’
capacities to undertake national execution (see paras. 139 and 140).

32. In its sample examination, the Board found no evidence of assessments of
the capacity of national institutions to undertake national execution projects
(see paras. 141 and 142).

33. UNDP did not have an adequate system for assessing national capacities (see
para. 143).

On monitoring, evaluation and review

34. UNDP needed to establish a training programme to strengthen Governments’
monitoring and evaluation skills (see paras. 144-146).

on audit compliance and follow-up

35. 1In the country offices visited, the independent audits of nationally
executed projects did not include management audits. Some of the countries did
not have the expertise to undertake management audits (see paras. 147 and 148).

36. There was little evidence that country offices regularly reviewed the scope

of the auditors’ reports and their findings and conclusions; nor was there
evidence that they pursued the auditors’ recommendations (see para. 149).
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on _evaluation strateqy, coverage and gystems
37. Although national execution within UNDP was 20 years old, UNDP did not have
a documented evaluation strategy to assess the progress and achievements of

national execution (see paras. 150-154).

on _the impact of the new support cost arrangements

38, UNDP plans to examine the impact of the new arrangements on national
execution (see paras. 155 and 156).

On performance indicators

39. UNDP had not established the necessary information systems to produce
performance indicators to help evaluate national execution (see paras. 157-159).

Budgetary formulation and performance reporting
on budgetary targets and achievements
40. TUNDP achieved a reduction of $42 million in setting its 1994-1995 budget

for core estimates, exceeding the target set by the Governing Council (see
paras. 162-164}).

On _country office workloads and indicators of performance
41. In achieving budget savings for 1994-1995, UNDP d4id not undertake any work

measurement exercises to ascertain country office worklocads (see
parag. 165-169}.

On monitoring expenditure against budget

42. The Budget Section analysed major variances and took appropriate action to
investigate and resolve them {see para. 170).

On performance reporting

43. There was no satisfactory means for UNDP to demonstrate its achievement of
budgetary targets and operational objectives (see paras. 171 and 172).

Management of trust funds and other funds administered by UNDP

n fund mandates

44. Aall six funds examined by the Bcard had clearly defined mandates. Although
these were consistent with the aims, policies and activities of UNDP, there was
no analysis of the contribution made by each fund to all four of UNDP’s focal
areas. The Board noted that UNDP’s Division for Sustainable Energy and
Environment was developing such an approach (see para. 178}.

On strategic plans

45. Three of the funds examined did not have a strategy to direct their
activities in support of their mandates and objectives. One other fund needed
to enhance and improve the scope and quality of its strategy ({see

paras. 179-185).
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On financial control

46. The main cause of the financial difficulties which the United Nations
Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) had experienced in 1995 was its inadequate
management and financial oversight. The Board found, however, that there had
also been a lack of oversight on the part of UNDP. UNDP had taken action to
strengthen the financial management of the Fund, and the Board noted that
financial control had improved significantly by December 1995 (see

paras. 186-1590).

47. Because of the serious accountability issues which arose from the UNIFEM
case and the increasing number and level of resources of funds and trust funds,
UNDP has decided to assign to the Division of Finance oversight of the programme
finance function of all funds (see paras. 191-193).

On _management information svystems

48. TUNIFEM was considering alternative systems to replace its budget management
system, which was not integrated into UNDP’s main financial system (see
paras. 194 and 195).

49. The United Nations Capital Development Fund and the UNDP Global Environment
Facility had established an intermal financial reporting mechanism which
provided clear interpretation and explanation of the fund’s financial situation
(see para. 197).

On_monitoring, evaluation and review

50. The UNDP Global Environment Facility had put in place procedures to ensure
that projects were evaluated upon completion. UNDP is currently developing its
monitoring and evaluating approach for its Montreal Protocol projects, and the
results of an external evaluation of UNIFEM were expected to be submitted to the
Executive Board in September 1996. UNSO has recognized that it needs to develop
evaluation mechanisms. The United Nations Volunteers had developed revised
reporting formats to make volunteers’ reports more useful for monitoring and
evaluation purposes, and UNCDF had devoted considerable attention to its
monitoring and evaluation programme (see paras. 198-205).

Internal audit
General
51. The Division for Audit and Management Review had initiated a series of

discussion papers and activities to improve the quality of its services and
practices (see paras. 206 and 207).

On status and independence

52. The Division had sufficient independence, but its impact was affected by
slow responses from auditees to its reports. It continued to undertake some
non-audit functions in addition to its audit duties (see paras. 208-212).

On regources

53. The Division remained understaffed during the biennium, and 6 (24 per cent)
of its 25 Professional posts were vacant. To supplement its resources, the
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Division contracted out the audits of country offices in two regions {aee
paras. 213-215).

On management of the contractors

54. The Division exercised sound oversight over the work of the accounting
firms to which it had contracted work (see paras. 216-218).

on_audit coveradge

55. There were significant shortfalls in the delivery of planned work owing to
the need for the Division to react to emerging problems (see paras. 219 and
220).

56. Over the last six years, the Division examined only four funds and trust
funds. The Board considers this coverage to be insufficient in comparison with
coverage of UNDP’s main activities (see paras. 221 and 222).

on audit planning

57. The Division’'s Internal Audit Section had drawn up a sound annual plan and
a long-term (seven-year) plan. The Projects Services Audit Section and the
National Execution Audit Section had annual plans only and had not established
plans for the longer term. Plans did not set out the criteria used for
selecting subjects for audit (see paras. 223-229).

on audit documentation

58. There was no standard form of documentation setting out clearly the
procedures followed and the main findings and conclusions, nor were there clear
permanent records of basic informaticn on the auditees (see para. 230).

on audit standards and computer audit

59. The Division’s audit manual needed updating. To help auditors and
contractors undertake country office audits, the Division had developed
comprehensive guidance on country office audit procedures. Although the
Division’s information systems auditor examined systems under development, there
was not sufficient coverage of the risks arising from computer operations (see
paras. 231-233).

On reporting and follow-up

60. The National Execution Audit Section did not adequately follow up the audit
reports received from government auditors on nationally executed projects. In
general, the Division carefully reviewed the responses to its own reports, but
it only followed up on the actions promised by auditees when carrying out a
subsequent audit (see paras. 234-237).

On staff training
61. The Division had a considerable body of experience and relevant

qualifications, and staff received additional training to maintain their audit
and related skills {(see paras. 238 and 235).
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Detailed findings

Part I: Financial matters

Accounting and financial reporting standards

62. In 1995 the Administrative Committee on Coordination (ACC) approved common
standards for the presentation of the financial statements of the organizations
of the United Nations system {(ACC/1995/20, annex III). The new standards are
mandatory for the 1996-1997 biennium; however, as encouraged by ACC, UNDP has
applied the new format to the presentation of its financial statements for
1994-1995.

63. Accounting and financial reporting in accordance with the standards is
intended to ensure consistent and transparent disclosure of all the transactions
and balances of the organization. The Board has reviewed UNDP’s compliance with
the standards and is satisfied that UNDP generally applied the standards for the
1994-1995 biennium. In accordance with the standards, for the first period of
reporting in the new format, on an exceptional basis, UNDP omitted prior period
figures as these were difficult to reconstitute in the revised format. UNDP
informed the Board that it would include all prior period figures in its
financial statements for 1996-1997.

Programme expenditure incurred by Governments and executing agencies

64. UNDP includes in its financial statements details of programme expenditure
incurred on its behalf by executing agencies and Governments. In 1994-1995,
UNDP reported that these amounted to $2,014 million, with related agency support
costs of $137 million. This information is based on quarterly expenditure
statements which the Governments and agencies certify and submit to UNDP to
report how they have applied advances received from UNDP. For each nationally
executed project, UNDP prepares a combined delivery report showing all
expenditure incurred during the calendar year, which it sends to respective
Governments for certification by their independent auditors. For projects
executed by other United Nations agencies, UNDP requires each one to provide
financial statements relating to UNDP expenditure, which are certified by the
agencies’ own external auditors. The audit certificates provide assurance that
the Governments and agencies have properly expended and accurately reported the
funds provided by UNDP. The Board dces not have access to the expenditure
records of Governments or of all executing agencies and consequently it relies
on the audit certificates.

Audit certificates from executing agencies

65. The Board has received audit certificates from the executing agencies in
respect of these expenditures. The Board noted a small number of minor
differences between the expenditures reported in the final audited statements
and schedules 5 and 5.1; however these are not significant and do not have an
impact on the audit opinion.

Audit certificates from Governments

66. In schedule 5, UNDP reports expenditure of $1,135 million on nationally
executed projects, which represents 56 per cent of total programme expenditure
for the biennium. UNDP’s Division for Audit and Management Review prepares an
annual plan setting out on a country basis its requirement for receiving
independent audit certificates in respect of nationally executed projects.
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67. At mid-June 1996, enough audit certificates had been received to support
expenditure of $769 miliion (68 per cent) of total government execution for the
biennium. However, at that date, a number of countries had not met the target
for audit coverage for 1995, leaving a significant gap in audit coverage of
nationally executed projects. A few countries had also still not submitted
audit certificates in respect of 1994 expenditures.

Limitation of the scope of the audit opinion

68. The Board is satisfied that UNDP has included all reported national
execution expenditure in its financial statements. However, the Board has
insufficient audit assurance for $366 million (32 per cent) of this expenditure
and, accordingly, has restricted the scope of its opinion to exclude this
expenditure.

National execution audit gtrateqy
69. UNDP’'s current strategy for the audit of nationally executed projects
applies the principle of financial regulation 17.2, which requires each project

to be audited at least once in its lifetime. However, table 1 shows that
national execution expenditure has grown considerably since then.

Table 1: Growth of national execution expenditure, 1990-1895

{Millions of United States dollars)

Total project National execution
Biennium expenditure Per_cent
1530-1991 2 180 300 14
1992-1933 2 044 639 31
1994-1995 2 014 1 135 56

Source: UNDP financial statements.

70. The significant increase in national execution expenditure in recent
bienniums means that UNDP’s current strategy for obtaining audit certificates
does not provide sufficient audit assurance in respect of expenditure on
nationally executed projects. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP should
supplement its existing approach by ensuring that all projects with significant
expenditure are audited. To achieve this, the Board considers that UNDP would
need to analyse national execution projects by number and value and select for
audit all high value projects. A management consultant’s report of May 1995
showed that such an approach could achieve both significant audit coverage and a
reduction in the number of projects to be audited.

71. To allow government auditors more time to conduct their audits, the Board
encourages UNDP to make an early start on selecting the national execution
projects for audit. In response to the Board’'s recommendations, the Division
for Audit and Management Review agreed to review with the Division of Finance
the audit strategy and possible changes required to financial regulation 17.2,
concerning the extermal audit of national execution projects.

-24-




Audit of combined delivery reports

72. The combined delivery reports show government, UNDP and cooperating agency
expenditures incurred against each nationally executed project. Although UNDP
sends these reports to the respective Governments for certification by their
independent auditors, the Board noted that many of the auditors restricted the
scope of their audit opinion to government disbursements only. They stated they
were unable to audit expenditures by UNDP and cooperating agencies as they do
not have the necessary documentation.

73. TUNDP informed the Board that it shared the Board’s concern over the
restrictions and was initiating a review of the accountability process by the
Division of Finance and the Division for Audit and Management Review to ensure
that the auditors have the requisite basis to conduct their audit.

Management of the Regerve for Field Accommodation
Background .

74. The Reserve for Field Accommodation was established in 1979 at a maximum
level of $25 million to construct housing for United Nations international staff
in the field. 1In 1989 the Governing Council authorized UNDP to expand the scope
of the Reserve to include financing for the United Nations System Common
Premises, intended to accommodate the office needs of the agencies of the Joint
Consultative Group on Policy. UNDP was authorized at that time to overcommit
the Reserve by up to 510 million, while ensuring that funds disbursed from the
Reserve did not exceed $25 million at any time. This was on the understanding
that the agencies would share the costs, based on utilization of space.

75. In its report on the 19592-1993 financial statements, the Board expressed
its concern that the authorized level of the Reserve had been exceeded. TUNDP
advised the Board that it had initiated action to recover from the agencies
funds advanced by UNDP for the construction of the common premises. The Board
recommended that UNDP present an expenditure plan to the Executive Board which
would clearly demonstrate whether the authorized level of the Reserve was
sufficient to meet future needs.

76. In November 1994, in a report to the Executive Board (DP/1995/10/Add.1),
the Administrator presented a three-year plan for the utilization of the
Reserve. The Administrator stated that the utilization and balance of the
Reserve would be reduced from $41.5 million at 31 December 1993 to below

$10 million for 1996, mainly through disposal of housing properties and agency
reimbursements.

77. Despite UNDP’s plan to reduce the utilization and balance of the Reserve by
1996, cumulative disbursements charged to it reached $46.8 million by the end of
1995, after deducting the operating surplus earned on rented housing, or

$54.8 million gross. This represented over-expenditure of $21.8 million

{$29.8 million gross) against the authorized limit of $25 million. Table 2
shows the status of the Reserve from 1990 to 1995.

-25-




Table 2: Status of the Reserve for Field Accommodation

{(Millions of United States dollars)

1590 1851 13352 1983 1984 1885
Cumulative disbursements a/ 13.5 18.6 28.2 41.3 42,9 46.8
Balance of reserve (over-

expenditure) 11.5 6.4 {3.2) {16.5) (17.9) {21.8)

Source: UNDP financial statements, 1990-1995.

a/ The cumulative disbursements for 1994 and 1995 are net of operating
surplus earned on rented housing accommodation. The gross figures are
$49.9 million and $54.8 million, respectively. Cumulative disbursements for
1995 do not include $5.6 million for invoices received but not paid as at
31 December 1995,

78. 1In 1995 UNDP hired an international accounting firm to provide a detailed
analysis of the cumulative disbursements charged to the Reserve and the related
accounting and other records. The consultants identified the costs of each
construction project, analysed by payments to contractors, subcontractors and
the architect. 1In addition, they classified expenditures as between maintenance
and rehabilitation relating tc ongoing housing operations. This provided UNDP
with a valuable analysis, which had not previously been available, and a sound
basis on which to review and report on the activities of the Reserve.

79. TUNDP took a number of actions to strengthen financial and management
control of the Reserve. 1In May 1995 it assigned to the new Deputy Director of
the Division for Administrative and Information Services oversight
responsibility for the management of the Reserve. In July 1995 UNDP suspended
the certifying authority of the Divigion’s Chief of the Field Services and
Housing Section, who had previously been responsible for managing the Reserve.
UNDP transferred certifying authority for the Reserve to the Director and Deputy
Director of the Division for Administrative and Information Services, and in
February 1596 UNDP appointed a new Chief of the Field Services and Housing
Section. In addition, UNDP has secured independent consultants to determine
whether the wvaluation, at cost, of the buildings constructed is in line with the
expenditure incurred. The Board welcomes these actions.

80. UNDP informed the Board that it remained committed to the underlying policy
framework of the three-year plan and was studying options for its common
premises and housing assets. UNDP planned to present these and any necessary
revisions to the plan, including a request to increase the level of the Reserve,
to the Executive Board in September 1996.

8l. To determine the reasons for the significant overspend against the Resgerve
limit, the Board examined the management of the construction projects; control
of subcontracts; the role of the architect responsible for overseeing projects
in 7 of the 10 countries concerned; reimbursements from other United Nations
agencies; and the accounting arrangements for the Reserve.

82. UNDP shared the Board’s concern about the control and management of the
Reperve and cooperated fully with the Board’s review. UNDP carried ocut its own
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review of how the over-expenditure arose and made the results of its work, and
the findings of the international accounting firm, available to the Board.

Construction projects

83. By 31 December 1995, UNDP had paid a total of $39.3 million against fixed
price construction contracts valued at $27.9 million. Additional outstanding
liabilities in respect of invoices received but not paid at that date amounted
to $5.6 million, following UNDP’'s decision to review outstanding claims from
contractors before making further payments in respect of the construction
projects.

84. Table 3 compares the fixed contract prices with actual payments made and
unpaid invoices for each construction project. The table shows significant
overspends in 8 out of 10 country projects.

Table 3: Comparison of fixed contract sums with actual
construction costs as at 31 December 1995

(Millions of United States dollars)

Fixed
contract Unpaid Total Overspend
Country price Payments invoices cost a/ Overspend per cent
Cape Verde 5.0 6.4 0.6 7.0 2.0 40
Comoros 2.6 3.8 0.1 3.9 1.3 50
Ghana 0.7 2.1 - 2,1 1.4 200
Guinea-Bissau 6.3 8.2 3.3 11.5 5.2 83
Maldives 1.8 1.9 - 1.9 0.1 6
Mozambique 1.9 2.2 - 2.2 0.3 16
Sao Tome 4.4 5.0 1.0 6.0 1.6 36
Uganda 1.6 2.7 - 2.7 1.1 69
viet Nam 1.7 1.9 0.5 2.4 0.7 41
Zambia 1.9 5.1 0.1 5.2 3.3 174
Total 27.9 39.3 5.6 44.9 17.0 61
Source: Analysis prepared by UNDP consultant, 23 January 1996.
a/ Total cost comprises all construction fees, excluding architect fees, which are covered

by separate contract arrangements.

85. UNDP recognizes that there were significant weaknesses in the functions of
the certifying and approving officers, which enabled payments to be made in
excess of contract amounts. Both the Division for Administrative and
Information Services certifying officer and the Division of Finance approving
officer should have ensured that payments did not exceed contract amounts; and
payments were made by country offices to contractors on the direct instructions
from the certifying officer without any approving officer function. The Board
considers that there were inherent risks certifying and approving payments in
the field and at headguarters under the same contract and that appropriate
controls should have been established to coordinate and monitor all payments
under those contracts. UNDP is examining the certifying and approving officer
functions to ensure that any such gaps in control are closed.

86. The authority for certifying such large payments within UNDP rested with
one individual, the then Chief of the Field Services and Housing Section of the
Division for Administrative and Information Services, who certified payments for
the construction projects on the sole basis of a certificate, signed by the
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architect overseeing the construction projects, to confirm that the work had
been done.

Approval of pavments

87. UNDP recognizes that there were significant shortcomings in the adequacy of
documentation supporting payments made in respect of the construction contracts.
Financial rule 114.5 states that an approving officer shall ensure that a
payment "is supported by documents which indicate that the goods and services
for which payment is claimed have been rendered in accordance with the terms of
the contract"”. TUNDP told the Board that in the past it had considered the
architect’s certificates sufficient to support payment. The Division of Finance
approving officer did not seek any other confirmation that payments were in
accordance with contract terms. As UNDP remunerated the architect on the basis
of a percentage of actual cost, the Board considers that this prejudiced the
architect’s independence and that his certificates alone were not sufficient to
support claims for payment. The Board considers that UNDP should only have
approved payments to the contractors on the basis of further supporting
documentation such as suppliers invoices or independent confirmation, for
example, through a guantity surveyor.

88. UNDP's financial rule 114.3 statesgs that "no contract, agreement or
undertaking of any nature ... shall be entered intc until all funds have been
reserved in the accounts". For contracts, purchase orders and other agreements,
such procedure should also ensure that payments are made in accordance with the
agreed rates and contract terms, since each payment should be related to the
obligated amount in the financial records. The Board noted that none of the
construction costs were subject to these controls because UNDP did not create
any obligations or commitments against which expenditures from the Reserve could
be controlled. UNDP recognizes that this was a significant weakness, and proper
controls are now in place on all such expenditures, regardless of whether they
arise against a reserve.

89. Despite sizeable increases in expenditures, none of the contracts were
resubmitted to the Contracts Committee for approval. Financial

rule 114.21 (a) (iii) states that a submission to the Contracts Committee must
be made for "any contract amendment, or series of amendments, which in aggregate
either has a value of $100,000 or more, or which would increase the amount of
the contract as previously recommended by the Committee by more than

20 per cent, whichever is the less". Table 3 sghows that actual construction
costs exceeded the contract sums by more than $100,000 for all the construction
projects.

90. TUNDP recognizes that there were systematic problems with accounting,
financial and procedural controls for activities under the Resgerve, and it
assures the Board that it is taking steps to ensure that in the future all
activities under the Reserve fully comply with the financial regulations and
rules. UNDP informed the Board that it has established a working group to
address the question of the breakdowns which occurred in internal controls,
including monitoring and oversight. Furthermore, for those contracts with
outstanding amounts payable to contractors, UNDP has submitted details to the
Contracts Committee for ex post facto review.

91. While the Board has seriocus concerns about the breakdown in financial
controcl over the Reserve for Field Accommodation, and the excess payments
incurred as a consequence, the Board took note of the remedial actions UNDP has
taken to prevent recurrence of such problems. The Board further tock note of
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the management changes UNDP has introduced in the Division for Administrative
and Information Services to strengthen financial control and the Reserve; and
the Board also endorses UNDP’s decision to initiate an internal audit
examination of the management of the Reserve, including the contractual
arrangements entered into.

92. The Board recalls the concerns it expressed in its report for the 1992-1993
biennium regarding personal responsibility and financial liability. In this
connection, the Board noted that the Administrator had established a separate
management oversight committee to review the accountability aspects of the
management of the Reserve for Field Accommodation.

Control of subcontracts

93. UNDP’'s consultants report shows subcontractor costs amounting to

$11.7 million, which included 26 payments, totalling $9.6 million, which were in
excess of the Contracts Committee’s limit of $100,000. Two subcontractors
received payments in excess of $1 million for work in Sao Tome and Zambia
without Contracts Committee approval.

94. The Board noted that the architect had undertaken subcontracting
arrangements in seven countries, even though the main contractors were
contractually responsible for subcontracting and only then with UNDP's prior
written approval. No such responsibility was accorded the architect in the
terms of reference of his contracts. Nonetheless, he determined which elements
of the construction projects should be subcontracted, handled all tendering
procedures and selection of subcontractors, established contracts with them and
provided certificates to support UNDP’'s payments to them. UNDP was unable to
provide the Board with details of how the architect selected subcontractors or
what contract terms he agreed to and whether these were in accordance with
UNDP’s financial rules and regulations.

95. The construction contract terms provided that the fixed sum agreed with the
main contractors was for all work, including any necessary subcontracting. UNDP
is examining the subcontracts to determine whether the supplies and works
scheduled in them were omitted or excluded from the main contracts and, if not,
to ensure that appropriate deductions were made to the amounts due to the main
contractors.

Role of the axchitect

96. 1In 1989 UNDP initiated the process of selecting an architect to oversee
construction projects in Cape Verde, Guinea-Bissau, Sao Tome and Mozambique.
UNDP engaged an independent architect to review the bids received, and his
recommended choice was sanctioned by the Contracts Committee.

97. TUNDP accordingly issued a contract to the architect selected. TUnder the
terms of his contract he was required to prepare designs, cost estimates and
work schedules, advise UNDP on selection of the main contractors, supervise
construction, certify payments claimed by the main contractors and submit
progress reports to UNDP.

98. The Board found no evidence that UNDP had satisfied itself as to the
architect’s qualifications, experience and capacity to take on these several
construction projects; nor had UNDP reviewed the financial performance and
viability of the architect’s company. The Board considers that such checks were
necessary in view of the heavy reliance to be placed upon this one individual.
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UNDP agreed that it should have undertaken such checks; it assured the Board
that current guidance includes information on those elements.

99. The architect’s contract for construction projects in four countries -

Cape Verde, Guinea-Bissau, Saoc Tome and Mozambique - included payment terms
based on 15 per cent of estimated construction costs, equivalent to $834,783.
UNDP awarded the architect three further contracts, for construction projects in
Comoros, Somalia and Zambia, for fixed fees of $165,000, $140,000 and $145, 000,
respectively.

100. For the four country projects on which the architect’s fee was based on a
percentage of construction costs, UNDP paid the architect on the basis of actual
construction costs rather than the costs as provided in the contract. The Board
considers that this contributed to overpayment to the architect and also
presented a conflict of interest: the higher the construction costg, the
greater the benefit to the architect. There was therefore no incentive for the
architect to exercise effective cost control. In addition, the Board noted that
UNDP paid the architect $411,249 for the Comoros contract, $387,915 for the
Somalia contract and $172,869 for the Zambia contract instead of the fixed fees
agreed on, representing apparent overpayments of $246,249, $247,915 and $27,869,
respectively.

10L. Over a period of some six years, total known payments to the architect,
excluding out-of-pocket expenses, amounted to some $3.8 million for services in
seven countries. As the four contract amounts totalled $1.28 million, this
represented an apparent overpayment of $2.52 million.

102. UNDP informed the Board that it had reviewed the role played by the
architect. In February 1996, it engaged another architect to provide an
independent assessment of the construction works. UNDP was scheduled to present
the results of this assessment to the Executive Board in September 1996. 1In
addition, UNDP started an in-depth review of the contractual arrangement with
the architect and his performance under the contracts.

103. The Board tock note of these initiatives and recommends that UNDP determine
whether any payments to contractors, subcontractors or the architect were
outside the terms of the contract and, if so, take appropriate recovery steps.

Reimbursements from other United Nations agencies

104. As at 31 December 1995, UNDP had received only $3.65 million of

$12.2 million estimated by UNDP as due from participating agencies in settlement
of their share of expenses for construction projects of the United Nations
System Common Premises. In June 1995 UNDP requested further payments totalling
$5.2 million from the agencies. By 31 May 1996, however, the agencies had made
no additional payments. UNDP informed the Board that all agencies were
committed to sharing the costs of the common premises construction and had
established capital funds for premises. However, the Board noted that as at

31 May 1996 UNDP had not obtained formal funding agreements with any of the
participating agencies.

Accounting for the Reserve

105. UNDP informed the Board that it is currently examining options for
improving the accounting treatment of the activities of the Reserve. For
example, UNDP is considering the possibility of amortizing the assets under the




Reserve through payments by UNDP from budgeted resources. UNDP was scheduled to
present its proposals to the Executive Board in September 1995s6.

106. The Board notes that, during the 1994-13%95 biennium, the Reserve earned a
surplus of $3.4 million on housing operations. TUNDP informed the Board that the
surplus may be applied to amortize rehabilitation costs, which amounted to

$5.2 million as at 31 December 1995.

Staff separations

107. In his 1995 annual report, the Administrator told the Executive Board that,
in real terms, the total reduction in core administrative costs from 1992 to
1597 would amount to $106 million. UNDP estimated that approximately

$88 million of the savings would be secured from real staff costs, achieved
through the reduction of core staff positions. This saving takes account of the
costs of staff separations.

108. In order to meet the reduced staffing requirements, UNDP initiated in 1993
a series of separations of headgquarters and country office Professional and
General Service staff. The cost of the separation arrangement amounts to

$43.6 million, comprising separation indemnities ($35.2 million) and costs
arising from the transition to the reduced staff numbers ($8.4 million). From
its review, the Board of Auditors concluded that UNDP had succeeded in reducing
the number of core posts by a total of 259 at the end of December 1995 and had
projected a further reduction of 344 posts in 1396-1997. The actual and
projected reductions comprised 227 posts at headquarters (158 Professional and
69 General Service) and 376 at countryy offices.

Write-off of logses of cagh, receivables and property, ex gratia pavments

109. UNDP wrote off non-expendable property totalling $722,614 during the
biennium. The Board was also given details of an ex gratia payment of $1,464
and write-offs of cash and receivables amounting to $178,004. The Board is
satisfied with the information and explanations provided in respect of these
cases.

Part II: Management issues

National execution
Introduction

110. National execution involves Governments assuming responsibility for the
formulation and management of UNDP projects and programmes, and accountability
for the effective use of UNDP monies. As part of national execution projects,
support may be provided by UNDP headquarters and country offices and by United
Nations specialized agencies to build and strengthen national capacities for the
planning, implementation and execution of development projects and programmes.

111. Since the Governing Council’s decision 76/57 of 2 July 1876, which
introduced national execution to UNDP, Governments in developing countries have
been increasingly given responsibility for executing UNDP projects and
programmes. Over most of this period, national execution has been introduced
gradually, in accordance with the Governing Council’s original decision that
UNDP proceed with national execution on a carefully selected basis. In recent
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years, however, the Executive Board has actively encouraged the growth of
national execution and has urged UNDP to remove obstacles to its further
expansion.

112. Table 4 shows the increase in national execution expenditure from 1988 to
1995. The growth has been most significant in recent years following General
Assembly resolution 47/199 of 22 December 1992, which stated that national
execution should be the norm for United Nations-assisted projects.

Table 4. Growth of national execution expenditure, 19588-19595

{(Millions of United States dollars)

National Percentage of

Total project execution total project
Biennium expenditure expenditure expenditure
1388-19839 1 731 195 11
1890-1991 2 180 300 14
1992-18993 2 044 639 31
1994-1995 2 014 1 135 56

113. Within this overall expansion, national execution has developed at
different rates in different countries according to their specific needs and
capabilities. 1In his report of 13 May 1991 to the Governing Council
(DP/1991/23), the Administrator highlighted several unintended consequences of
national execution:

{a) There had been a significant increase in the workload of country
offices as they had been asked to assist Governments whose administrative
procedures and regulations were not suited to dealing with technical cooperation
projects;

{(b) Financial reporting by Governments had been poor, leading to concern
over accountability. TUNDP requirements had not been well understood by
Governments, and changes in UNDP financial procedures had brought limited
improvements;

(c) The Board of Auditors had qualified UNDP’'s financial statements
because of poor performance in financial reporting and auditing of nationally
executed projects;

{d} There had been limited involvement of United Nations specialized
agencies in nationally executed projects, leading to the loss of the technical
expertige and support skills of the agencies.

114. The Executive Board had therefore asked UNDP to provide more effective
country-level support to Governments adopting national execution, to simplify
national execution procedures and to ensure that Governments continued to have
access to the expertise of the United Nations specialized agencies in the
programming, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of projects and

programmes.




115, In its report on UNDP’'s financial statements for the 1592-1993 biennium,
the Board of Auditors identified significant deficiencies in the management of
UNDP projects and programmes. In particular, for a number of national execution
projects, the Board highlighted government failure to comply with UNDP reporting
requirements and procedures, and delays in appointing government counterpart
staff.

Scope of examination

116. Against this background, the Board examined: (a) whether the objectives of
national execution were clearly defined; (b) how UNDP supported the development
of national execution; (c¢) the management of national execution projects at a
selection:of country offices; and (d) how UNDP evaluated the achievements of
national execution.

117. As part of its review, the Board visited UNDP country offices in Brazil,
China, Ethiopia, the Lao People’s Democratic Republic, Morocco and the United
Republic of Tanzania to review the management and progress of 24 national
execution projects. The Board also met with government counterparts and the
appointed auditors for the projects and visited the project sites to ascertain
the projects’ progress.

National execution obijectives

118. In his report of 4 March 1988 to the Governing Council (DP/1988/19/Ad4.2),
the Administrator proposed that national execution had two interrelated
objectives: (a) the enhancement of the capability of a Government to plan and
manage technical assistance and to integrate it into its own development
programmes; and (b) the cost-effective attainment of project-specific technical
agsistance goals.

11i9. In a subsequent report of 13 May 1991 (DP/1991/23), the Administrator
stated that General Assembly and Governing Council resolutions and decisions
revealed two principal aims in promoting national execution: (a) to ensure that
recipient Governments had sole responsibility for the coordination of external
assistance and the principal responsibility for its design; and (b) to make full
use of, and strengthen, national capacities in order to promote self-reliance
and sustainability.

120. None of these objectives have been officially sanctioned by the Governing
Council or the Executive Board. There is therefore no single, definitive
statement of the objectives of national execution. Moreover, three of the
objectives focus on intermediate outputs rather than on the desired final
impacts of national execution. The Board considers that a clear definition of
the objectives of national execution is now essential. It therefore recommends
that the objectives of national execution be clearly defined to provide a closer
link with UNDP’‘s overall development aims. UNDP told the Board that it
concurred with the need to establish clearly defined objectives for national
execution and that it was preparing a policy document, for submission to the
Executive Committee, which would address this issue as well as define a clearer
strategy for the further expansion of national execution.

Support for the development of national execution

121. The Governing Council has recognized that national execution does not
necessarily imply that a Government has the capacity to execute all aspects of a
project. Country offices are therefore expected to provide support to

-33-




Governments to enhance their ability to assume the additional responsibilities
arising from national execution. Such support can include training government
staff, funding the development of management information systems and providing
gquidance and advice to improve government understanding of international
procurement standards and UNDP financial accountakbility requirements.

122. In response to the Board of Auditors’ obsexrvations on the management of
national execution projects and programmes in 1992-1993, UNDP acknowledged that
the failure of Governments to comply with substantive and financial reporting on
projects had been one of the difficulties encountered in promoting national
execution. UNDP pointed out that it was preparing new guidance on national
execution, emphasizing the need for government compliance with UNDP regulations
and rules, and it would introduce a new role for country offices to support
national execution.

123. UNDP has not yet, however, issued any new guidance on national execution.
Although UNDP drew up revised guidance for inclusion in the UNDP Programme and
Projects Manual in July 1994, the guidance has not yet been finalized.

124. Existing guidance is contained in the Programme and Projects Manual issued
in Februarxry 1988, May 1991 and March 1992 and in guidelines issued in

October 1992. Since then there have been significant legislative developments
which affect national execution, including General Assembly resolution 47/199,
which confirmed that national execution should be the norm for programmes and
projects supported by the United Nations system. The Board considers that these
developments, together with the continued expansion of national execution, have
rendered the 'existing guidelines inadegquate. In particular, the Board is
concerned that there is a conflict between UNDP guidance and some of the
relevant legislation.

125. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP complete and issue the new
guidance on national execution to ensure that it:

{(a) Properly reflects all of the relevant General Assembly, Governing
Council and Executive Board legislation;

{(b) Clearly defines the objectives of national execution;
{¢) Strengthens UNDP’s accountability requirements;

(d} Clearly delineates the responsibilities of resident representatives,
Governments and specialized agencies.

126. UNDP told the Board that it was revising the Programme and Projects Manual

and that this should simplify procedures, reconcile conflicting instructions and
eliminate ambiguities concerning national execution. UNDP expected to issue the
revised manual by December 1996.

Country office role in supporting national execution

127. In December 1993, the Administrator issued revised instructions to UNDP
country offices on the level of support which could be provided to nationally
executed projects. Under these instructions, country offices may procure goods
and services and contract with consultants and short-term experts, to provide
necessary project inputs directly to Governments. Resident representatives are
financially accountable up to the point of formal delivery of the inputs to the
Governments, while the Governments continue to be fully accountable for the




utilization of these inputs, for the overall management of the projects and for
the achievement of project objectives.

128. A report by the Secretary-General to the General Assembly in September 1595
{A/50/202) noted that UNDP country office support to national execution had been
extended in 80 countries. All six of the country offices which the Board
visited made considerable direct payments on behalf of nationally executed
projects, often through a designated national execution support unit. Services
included the procurement of equipment, the provision of fellowships and training
courses, and the selection and appointment of consultants.

129. The Board recognizes that these arrangements were intended to help
developing countries overcome the logistical and management problems associated
with the procurement of goods and services and that they were introduced in
response to General Assembly requests that more effective country-level support
be given to national execution. Notwithstanding, the Board considers that long-
term direct support is not consistent with the objective of promoting
self-reliance.

130. The Board expected country offices to have developed plans for phasing out
these types of services. The country offices which the Board visited did not
have such plans. 2An evaluation of national execution in 19595, commissioned by
UNDP’s Cffice of Evaluation and Strategic Planning, confirmed that, once
established, these types of services were difficult to dismantle and that
country offices could become overwhelmed by the volume of work associated with
the expansion of national execution. Moreover, Internal Audit has highlighted
inadequate resources at country offices to provide the required services. There
is therefore a risk that country offices could become a bottleneck in the
delivery of inputs for nationally executed projects.

131. UNDP pointed ocut that it encouraged Governments to handle, as far as
possible, all aspects associated with the execution of projects, including
procurement, but that imposing this upon all Governments would not necessarily
contribute to greater efficiency, cost-effectiveness and accountability. The
Board acknowledges this but considers that UNDP should plan for the move towards
full national execution. The Board therefore recommends that, where country
offices provide direct procurement support to national execution, they should
draw up a procurement development plan, in agreement with the respective
Governments, to facilitate the transfer of procurement responsibilities from
country offices to Governments. UNDP has accepted this recommendation and will
incorporate the necessary procedures in its revised Programme and Projects
Manual. Moreover, UNDP has initiated, with the assistance of the Inter-Agency
Procurement Service Office, a series of regional procurement workshops to
strengthen the capacity of country offices and Governments in procurement
activities.

Headguarters support for national execution

132. The growth of national execution has also placed additional demands on UNDP
headquarters. In 1992-1993 the Governing Council appropriated $2.7 million to
provide audit and financial accounting support to national execution from UNDP
headquarters. This was increased to $3.2 million in 1994-1995 and $3.8 million
for 1956-1997.

133. From their visits to 20 countries in 19594-1955, Internal Audit found a lack
of familiarity with UNDP requirements, poor audit compliance and follow-up,
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heavy reliance by Governments on country office support, inadequate information
to monitor expenditure and inadequate resources to support national execution.

134. The Board regards Internal Audit’s role as a valuable means of
strengthening national execution and welcomes its programme of visits.

Technical support for national execution

135. UNDP has recognized that a major challenge presented by national execution
involves preserving the quality of UNDP projects and programmes, particularly
through the effective use of United Nations specialized agencies. In his report
of 13 May 1591 to the Governing Council (DP/1991/23), the Administrator noted
that agencies had been used only to a very limited extent in national execution
and that the lack of a suitable formula for the reimbursement of support costs
to agencies may have contributed to this. He recognized that, in supporting
national execution, United Nations specialized agencies should be encouraged to
focus on providing technical assistance rather than administrative support.

136. In January 1992, UNDP introduced new arrangements for agency support costs
which offered a specific facility - Technical Support Services at the project
level {TSS 2). This was intended to provide technical support from five
specialized agencies to UNDP-financed projects, with particular emphasis on
national execution, and to assist with the identification, formulation,
monitoring and evaluation of projects.

137. The Office of Evaluation and Strategic Planning’s evaluation in 1995 of
national execution concluded that, overall, the participation of specialized
agencies in nationally executed projects had not been optimal because the new
support cost arrangements had not worked well. Many countries were
overestimating the skills of their national experts, thereby saving money but
reducing productivity and diminishing the access of experts to international
scientific developments.

138. The Boaxd noted that, four years after the introduction of the new
arrangements, UNDP was unable to demonstrate that the new facility had increased
the participation of agencies in natiocnally executed projectsg. UNDP informed
the Board that new instructions would include a mandatory requirement for each
national execution project to contain budgetary provisions for technical
backstopping or participation by a specialized agency in the review of the
project during its implementation.

Asgegsment of national execution capacities

139. The Programme and Projects Manual requires the resident representative to
review capacities with the Government and to consult with the competent
specialized agency. Governing Council decision 91/27, however, recognizes the
responsibility of the recipient Governments, in agreement with the
Administrator, to determine the execution approach for a particular project.
The apparent transfer of primary responsibility for these assessments from UNDP
to the Governments was further indicated in Governing Council decision 93/25,
which called upon recipient countries to assess national capacities with the
assistance of UNDP, as requested by the countries concerned, before approval of
national execution projects and programmes.

140. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP specify, in the revised Programme
‘and Projects Manual, who is responsible for assessing national capacities.
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141. UNDP guidance issued in October 1992 requires that when designating the
executing agent for a project, consideration should be given first to the
Government and should take into account its capacity, capability and commitment
tec undertake the project.

142. In November 1993, UNDP provided country offices with a questionnaire to
help them assess government management capacities. In its visits to six country
offices, however, the Board found no evidence of assessments of the capacity of
national institutions to undertake the 24 national execution projects which the
Board examined. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP re-emphasize, in the
revised Programme and Projects Manual, the need to assess the government
capacity to undertake a national execution project. The Board also recommends
that UNDP develop capacity assessment guidelines, incorporating standards of
government capacity to undertake national execution projects, and provide

- training to country offices and Governments to help them carry out agsesgsments
of strategic capacity.

143. UNDP pointed out that a framework for assessment of national execution
capacity was developed as part of the programme support document issued in
November 1993. UNDP agreed, however, that national capacity assessments needed
to be strengthened in terms of their scope, frequency and quality and that roles
and responsibilities needed to be clarified. UNDP told the Board that it would
set standards for capacity assessment as part of its policy document on national
execution and would issue better-defined capacity assessment guidelines as part
of its revised Programme and Projects Manual. TUNDP also told the Board that a
low capacity assessment was not regarded as a reason for not undertaking a
project but, on the contrary, as one of the objectives of support. The revised
guidelines would reflect this more clearly.

Monitoring, evaluation and review

144. By the end of 1954, UNDP had published 17 country reports highlighting
strengths and weaknesses and making recommendations for improvements. UNDP had
also published, in 1594, a report on generic issues concerned with monitoring
and evaluation. The Administrator acknowledged, however, that changes were
needed in the focus, structure and timeliness of the reports to make them more
effective instruments for building and strengthening the capacities of
Governments for monitoring and evaluation.

145. The Board recommends that UNDP establish a skills-training programme to
strengthen government monitoring and evaluation skills. UNDP accepted this
recommendation and told the Board that, in 1996, it had organized three regional
workshops on monitoring and evaluation and had planned a fourth. UNDP was also
developing arrangements with the World Bank to train senior officials of
programme countries in monitoring and evaluation.

146. The Board noted that the United Nations specialized agencies had been
involved in the evaluation of only 2 of the 24 projects examined. The Office of
Evaluation and Strategic Planning’s 1995 evaluation report pointed out that
although, in most countries, agencies still provided significant technical
agsistance and participated effectively in evaluations, in some countries their
ability to monitor and evaluate the progress and achievements of nationally
executed projects had been compromised by the marginal role which they had
played in project formulation. UNDP pointed out that the new successor
programming arrangements would allow smaller technical agencies to participate
in evaluations.
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Audit compliance and follow-up

147. During its visits to country offices, the Board examined the extent to
which Governments undertoock management audits of nationally executed projects
and the adequacy of follow-up action by UNDP country offices. The Board found
that many audits did not satisfy UNDP’'s requirement that they should examine the
adequacy of project management, monitoring, evaluation and reporting. A

May 1995 report on audit compliance, commissioned by UNDP from a f£irm of
management consultants, confirmed those findings.

148. The Division for Audit and Management Review regularly reminds country
offices of the full extent of UNDP’s audit requirements. Some of the countries
which the Board visited, however, did not have the expertise to undertake
management audits; for example, some did not have a State audit institution. 1In
these cases, Governments appointed private sector accounting firms to audit
national execution projects, but in the countries visited, such firms often did
not have experience of management audit.

»

149. During ite visits to country offices, the Board found little evidence that
country offices regularly reviewed the scope of the auditors’ reports or their
findings and conclusions. Nor was there evidence that country offices followed
up the implementation of the auditors’ recommendations. The Board is concerned
that these shortcomings impair accountability in respect of nationally executed
projecta. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP should review the terms of
reference set for the appointed auditors to help them undertake management
audits of naticnally executed projects and provide additional management audit
training for the auditors. UNDP told the Board that it will review the terms of
reference and the management audit training.

Evaluation of national execution

Evaluation gtrategy, coverage and systems

150. Although naticnal execution within UNDP is 20 years old, UNDP does not vet
have a documented evaluation strategy to assess comprehensively the progress and
achievements of national execution. UNDP told the Board that its approach
consisted of a combination of internal reviews and external evaluations to
identify experiences and highlight new issues for subsequent evaluations.

151. An internal review of national execution, completed in September 1991,
noted that assessment of the achievements of projects against their stated
development objectives was limited, partly because of the absence of baseline
data and benchmarks. In particular, it pointed out that the measurement of the
contributions of projects towards national capacity-building was limited and
that the evaluation reports offered limited information on sustainability.

152. An evaluation of national execution by the Office of Evaluation and
Strategic Planning in 1995 concluded that there appeared to be no evidence to
show whether nationally executed projects were more sustainable than projects
managed under other execution approaches. The report recommended that the
gsustainability of national execution projects should be examined in greater
depth. The review also found no evidence to show whether nationally executed
projects were more successful in building capacity than agency-executed
projects. The report recommended that a series of case studiesz should be
undertaken to assess the cost-effectiveness of national execution.




153. UNDP told the Board that the 1995 evaluation report was unable to provide
final answers to certain issues that required further investigation based on new
and challenging concepts, in particular with regard to cost-effectiveness,
sustainability and comparisons between national execution and other execution
approaches. The Board considers that such concepts should be fundamental
considerations for choosing to introduce and expand national execution and
should form the basis of an evaluation strategy.

154. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP establish an evaluation strategy
to provide a comprehensive assessment of the progress and achievements of
national execution and should initiate thematic evaluations of sustainability,
capacity-building and cost-effectiveness, incorporating direct comparisons,
where possible, between national execution and other execution approaches. The
Board was pleased to note that UNDP’'s 1997 evaluation work plan includes studies
on cost-effectiveness, sustainability and self-reliance.

Impact of the new support-cost arrangements

155. Governing Council decision 92/22 agreed that an external, independent
evaluation of the new agency support-cost arrangements should be undertaken

in 1994. This evaluation was expected to include a review of the extent to
which the new arrangements constituted an incentive to national execution and
enabled Governments to obtain enhanced and improved technical support from the
United Nations specialized agencies, especially for nationally executed
projects.

156. The Board noted that, although the evaluation was carried out as planned,
its findings were of limited value, since there was insufficient experience of
the new support-cost facilities at the time of the evaluation. The Board
considers that the impact of the new arrangements on national execution,
particularly the utilization of the Technical Support Services (TSS 2) facility,
remains an important issue to be examined. The Board therefore recommends that
UNDP initiate a further review of the utilization and impact of the TSS 2
facility. UNDP told the Board that the possibility of improving the TSS 2
facility would be studied as part of a review of recent experiences of the
support-cost arrangements.

Pexrformance indicators

157. The Administrator set out detailed performance indicators for the new
support-cost arrangements in his report of 15 May 1993 to the Governing Council
(DP/1993/22) . The Administrator stated that the existing information systems
would need to be enhanced to record and process the new types of data required
by the indicators, but expected that UNDP would be able to report on them

in 1994 and future years.

158. Some three years after the Governing Council’s decision to develop
performance indicators, UNDP informed the Board that it had made little progress
in establishing the necessary systems to provide the required data. The Board
therefore recommends that UNDP develop, in association with the agencies, the
information systems required to collect the data for the performance indicators.

159. UNDP told the Board that it was giving priority to accelerating the
development of appropriate systems for the performance indicators and had
engaged a consultant to develop such indicators. UNDP plans to integrate
performance indicators for support-cost arrangements and national execution with
other performance benchmarks for UNDP’'s development programmes .
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Budgetary formulation and performance reporting

Introduction

160. General Assembly resolution 48/228 of 23 December 1993 reguested the Board
of Auditors to review the development of assumptions used in the presentation of
the programme budget and performance reports with a view to suggesting
improvements. The Board extended its study to cover review of the budgetary
process in other organizations within its purview.

Scope of examination

161. The principal objectives of the Board’s review were to provide assurance
that the assumptions used in the formulation of the programme budget for the
1994-1995 biennium were based on sound financial and economic principles and,
where appropriate, to suggest improvements in budgetary techniques, monitoring
and performance reporting.

Budgetary targets and achievements

162. One of the key principles underpinning the formulation of the initial
budget for 1894-1995 was the minimization of administrative costs and the
maximization of resources allocated to development activities in the field.
UNDP’s Governing Council set a target of $30-$40 million in budgetary reduction.
The Administration set itself the aim of reducing administrative costs by

550 miliion, which was broadly proportional to the reduction in the level of
indicative planning figure resources available for UNDP projects.

163. Country offices were asked to seek out efficiency savings through, for
example, the substitution of international staff with local national officers,
an increase in the proportion of staff financed from extrabudgetary resources
and the rationalization of General Service functions. The overriding principle
was that any efficiency savings should not adversely affect the offices’
substantive capacity.

164. The Board noted that UNDP achieved a reduction of some $42 million in its
budget for core activities, consisting of headgquarters savings of $11 million

and country office savings of $31 million.

Countrv office workloads and indicators of efficiency

165. Out of the gross 1994-1995 budget of $486 million for core activities,

70 per cent {($337 million) was allocated to country offices. 1In terms of
staffing levels, budgetary reductions at headquarters were much greater than
those in the field. 1In absolute dollar terms, most of the budgetary savings
were borne by the field (74 per cent in respect of 1994-1995 and 71 per cent in
respect of 1996-1997).

166. UNDP’s review of how costs could be reduced was undertaken with the full
participation of regional bureaux and country offices. As part of the review,
UNDP carried out a survey to provide an indication of how country office staff
divided their time between UNDP and non-UNDP matters. This allowed UNDP to
establish a new appropriation line in the 1934-1995 budget estimates, which
geparated country offices’ support to the operational activities of the United
Nations from UNDP‘s core activities.




167. UNDP did not, however, undertake work measurement exercises to ascertain
country office workloads and the level of staff resources required to undertake
their activities. Moreover, although UNDP prepared some financial indicators to
compare and contrast administrative costs between regional bureaux in broad

- terms, it did not compile benchmarks or performance indicators for individual
country offices.

168. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP carry out work measurement
exercises of country offices’ activities. These would help to strengthen UNDP’s
budgetary formulation process at the local level, provide benchmarking data and
help compile standard performance indicators.

169. UNDP acknowledges the importance of independent work measurement exercises
for country offices. It told the Board that one of the projects it was pursuing
as part of its management of change initiative concerned the "country office of
the future", through which it would review office structures and establish
benchmarks and standard performance indicators for country offices.

Monitoring expenditure against budget

170. UNDP's Budget Section is responsible for monitoring, on a monthly basis,
staff costs and other expenditures against budget. It used budgetary projection
reports to identify both overspends and underspends, analysed major variances
and initiated appropriate action to investigate and resolve problems.

Performance reporting

171. For previous bienniums, UNDP has included in its financial reports and
audited financial statements a comparison between the final budget and out-turn
expenditure on core activities, programme support and development activities and
trust funds. The financial reports have not, however, included a commentary on
operational performance against UNDP‘'s mandates and objectives within the bounds
set by the biennial budget, although UNDP publishes annual reports which
highlight some of its key achievements against its mandates and objectives.

172. The Bcard considers that UNDP does not have a satisfactory mechanism
through which it can be accountable for achieving budgetary targets alongside
its operational objectives. The Board recommends that UNDP develop such a means
for reporting achievement of the activities provided for in the budget.

Management of trust funds and other funds administered by UNDP

Background

173. The General Assembly, the UNDP Executive Board or the Administrator may
establish trust funds and other funds to carry out specific activities and
programmes of work. Such funds are financed through voluntary contributions,
primarily from United Nations Member States, and are independent of UNDP’s
indicative planning figure resources.

174. The activities of trust funds and other funds administered by UNDP have
become an increasingly important part of UNDP’'s operations. Table 5 shows that,
over the last three bienniums, there was a significant growth in the number,
income and expenditure of such funds.
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Table 5. Growth in the number, income and expenditure of
trust funds and other funds, 15%90-1995

(Millions of United States dollars)

Number of
Biennium funds a/ Income Expenditure
1990-1991 73 276 245
1392-1983 85 369 351
1994-1985 119 658 501

a/ Number of trust funds and other funds at the end of each
biennium.

175. In its report on UNDP’s 1592-1993 financial statements, the Board of
Auditors pointed out that the distinct roles of some funds and the differing
administrative procedures for approving and implementing projects complicated
the funds’ integration with mainstream UNDP programme activity. The Board had
noted that UNDP was considering the introduction of a standard fund management
approach with uniform management structures and processes for all programme
funds, including trust funds, insofar as their govermance and structure allowed.
In addition, trust fund activities would be covered by corporate financial
management systems to ensure consistent and compatible information on all
sources of funds.

Audit approach

176. The Board focused its review on six of the largest funds and trust funds
administered by UNDP. Their combined income and expenditure constituted

58 per cent and 65 per cent, respectively, of the total income and expenditure
of funds in 1994-1995. The six funds and trust funds are: the United Nations
Development Fund for Women, the United Nations Volunteers programme, the United
Nations Capital Development Fund, the Trust Fund to Combat Desertification and
Drought, the Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol
and the UNDP Global Environment Facility.

177. In April 1995, the Executive Board reguested that the United Nations
Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) be included on a priority basis in the Board
of Auditors’ programme of work. The Board therefore undertcook an urgent review
of the financial situation of UNIFEM in April and May 1995 and presented the
results to UNDP on 31 May 1995. In December 1995, the Board followed up its
review to assess progress in addressing UNIFEM’s financial difficulties. The
results of those reviews are reflected in the present report.

Fund mandates

178. All six funds had clearly defined mandates which were broadly consistent
with the aims, policies and activities of UNDP. In addition, each fund was
clearly linked with one of UNDP’s four focus areas of poverty elimination,
sustainable livelihoods and employment, advancement of women, and protection and
regeneration of the environment. Although there was no analysis of the
contribution made by each fund to all of the four focus areas, the Board noted
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that UNDP’'s Division for Sustainable Energy and Environment was developing such
an approach for its activities, which included three of the six trust funds
examined by the Board. The Board endorses this initiative and recommends that,
in view of the growth of trust funds and other funds, UNDP ensure that there is
a clear and demonstrable analysis of the mandates of funds and their
contribution to all of UNDP's corporate objectives.

Strategic plans

179. The Board was pleased to note that the Office to Combat Desertification and
Drought (UNSO) had responded to the adoption of the United Nations Convention to
Combat Desgertification and Drought in June 1994 with a new strategy to promote
resource mobilization and policy, strategy and programme development at the
country level. The Board was also pleased to note that the United Nations
Volunteers programme had established a strategic approach for 1993-1996 which,
taken with its annual management plan, served as a sound strategy to underlie
its activities. Three of the other funds did not, however, have a strategy to
direct their activities in support of their mandates and objectives. In
addition, the Board considered that one other fund needed to enhance and improve
the scope and quality of its strategy.

Montreal Pxrotogol

180. UNDP did not have a strategy to direct its participation in the Montreal
Protocol, under which UNDP helped developing countries plan, prepare and
implement the phasing out of ozone-depleting substances. Its involvement in
implementing the Protocol was governed by an August 1991 agreement with the
Executive Committee of the Montreal Protoccl. TUNDP submitted, for the
Committee’s approval, annual work programmes and business plans which set out
the types and value of activities which it proposed to undertake.

181. In 1994 there was a shift in the type of assistance provided by UNDP. From
1991 to 1993, UNDP had focused on country programme preparation, technical
cooperation and technical training, which together accounted for over half of
its work programme. In 1994, however, investment projects represented some

88 per cent of UNDP approved activities under the Protocol. UNDP has continued
to concentrate on those projects, planning for 100 investment project approvals
with a value of $30 million in 1996.

182. This shift was in response to government and industry requests and also
followed Executive Committee guidelines that UNDP, the United Nations Industrial
Development Organization {UNIDO) and the World Bank should concentrate on
investment projects while the United Nations Environment Programme took primary
responsibility for technical training. The Board notes that this shift
represents a move away from UNDP’s traditional activities of institutional
strengthening through building national capacity and providing technical
assistance. Moreover, the Board notes that in March 1395, a study on the
Montreal Protocol commissiconed by Governments confirmed that, in addition to the
World Bank, having UNDP and UNIDO design and implement investment projects had
been beneficial since it had speeded up the project preparation and
implementation process. The study further confirmed that more emphasis on
institutional strengthening was likely to yield a faster rate of project
implementation and of phasing out of ozone-depleting substances. The Board
therefore recommends that UNDP review its activities under the Montreal Protocol
to assess whether its increasing involvement in investment projects remains the
most appropriate means for UNDP to contribute to the Protocol.
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United Nations Development Fund for Women {UNIFEM)

183. UNIFEM had prepared annual management plans for 1994 and 1995 which set out
specific objectives, activities, anticipated outcomes and a timetable for their
completion. The Fund had not, however, drawn up an overall strategic plan to
set longer-term cbjectives for its activities. The Board therefore recommends
that UNIFEM draw up a strategy setting out its long-term business objectives and
approaches for achieving its mandate and objectives.

United Nations Capital Development Fund (UNCDF)

184. In August 1995, UNCDF published its new policy for the period 1996-1998 in
response to a reduction in contributions to the Fund over recent years and the
need to refocus the Fund’s activities. TUNCDF had not, however, translated the
pelicy into a clearly defined strategy to direct its activities towards the
achievement of its policy objectives. The Board therefore recommends that UNCDF
develop a strategy for the achievement of its new policy objectives.

UNDP-Global Envirconment Facilityv (UNDP-GEF)

185. In February 19396, the secretariat of the Global Environment Facility
published its operational strategy for the Facility. In response, UNDP has
started to develop a strategy for its own participation under the Facility, and
the Board endorses those efforts. The Board recommends, however, that UNDP
enhance the strategy to integrate the Facility’'s objectives into UNDPB'’s
mainstream activities, improve the coordination of the Facility’s projects with
national and regional strategies and policies, and focus on a limited number of
key priorities rather than on the 22 issues which the strategy currently
identifies for actiom.

Financial control

186. UNDP may only accept trust funds on a fully funded basis unless otherwise
specified by the Governing Council or Executive Board. Each of the funds
reviewed had its own finance unit or finance officer responsible for the
financial and budgetary management of the funds, while UNDP’s Division of
Finance prepared the funds’ financial statements.

United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM)

187. In May 1995, the Board reported to UNDP on the results of its review of
UNIFEM’'g financial difficulties. UNDP had introduced in 1988, with the approval
of the Governing Council, a partial funding system for UNIFEM to increase the
Fund’s assistance to recipient countries and to reduce rapidly the Fund’s
accumulated balance of unallocated resources. In 1994 UNIFEM had incurred total
expenditures of $17.3 million compared with income of $10.3 million. UNIFEM’s
cash balance of $2.9% million, carried over from 1993, only partly covered the
excess of expenditure over income in 1994. To make up the shortfall, UNIFEM had
drawn $4.1 million from its operational resexve, leaving $1 million in the
reserve compared with $10.4 million which was required under UNIFEM's partial
funding formula.

188. The Board concurred with the Administrator’s assessment that the main cause
of these difficulties was inadequate management and financial oversight by
UNIFEM. The Board concluded, however, that there had also been a lack of
oversight on the part of UNDP. The Board considered that UNDP should have taken
a more active role in overseeing the financial management of the Fund,
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particularly in light of the significant risks associated with UNIFEM's partial
funding system, the operation of the Fund’s computerized budget management
system independently of UNDP's computer systems, and the decision to reduce the
Fund’s level of unexpended resources.

185. UNDP took action to strengthen the financial management of the Fund. In
June 1995, it outposted to UNIFEM a senior and experienced staff member from its
Division of Finance to oversee budgetary control of the Fund and provide regular
reports and assurance to the Director of UNIFEM and the Director of Finance that
appropriate controls were maintained at all times.

190. The Board reviewed UNIFEM in December 1995 and noted that financial control
of the Fund had improved significantly. It also noted that the Fund’s financial
situation had improved in comparison with earlier projections.

Oversight of centralized funds control

191. In view of the serious accountability issues which arose from UNIFEM and of
the increasing number and level of regources of funds and trust funds, UNDP has
decided to rationalize financial control of all funds and assign the oversight
of the programme finance function to the Division of Finance. 1In his report of
24 July 1995 to the Executive Board (DP/1995/51), the Administrator explained
that this was a necessary step to eliminate any ambiguity that might exist in
respect of the oversight of project and programme funds.

192. UNDP plans to discontinue the separate and independent arrangements that
have governed the financial management of funds. Some funds would no longer
have their own independent finance staff but would receive financial services
directly from the Division of Finance. The Administrator pointed out that those
arrangements would not prejudice the managerial responsibilities and
accountability of the respective fund managers, nor would they affect the status
of the funds.

193. UNDP expected to transfer financial responsibilities to the Division of
Finance by July 19%96. The Board understands that UNDP plans to clarify the
funds’ lines of reporting and accountability arrangements at headquarters and at
country offices by December 1996.

Management information systems

194. In response to UNIFEM's financial difficulties, the Administrator had
proposed that UNIFEM should replace its budget management system with UNDP's
project financial management system, which has the advantage of being integrated
into UNDP’s main financial system and, unlike the budget management system, does
not need to be constantly reconciled with Division of Finance records. The
Board therefore endorsed this proposal but noted that UNIFEM had not drawn up a
plan to move from one system to the other. UNIFEM told the Board that it had
evaluated the facilities offered by the project financial management system and
had concluded that it did not fully meet its needs. As a result, UNIFEM was
considering alternative systems. The Board considers that replacement of the
budget management system would be a key element in strengthening the financial
management of the Fund. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP and UNIFEM
prepare and implement a plan, with a clearly defined timetable, to replace
UNIFEM’'s budget management system with a system that is integrated into UNDP’s
main financial system.
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195. UNDP had proposed that the project financial management system would cover
all funds and trust funds to ensure consistent and compatible information on all
sources of funds. The Board found that although they used expenditure data
provided by UNDP, the finance officers for the Montreal Protocol, UNSO, UNCDF
and UNDP-GEF used computer systems independent of UNDP‘s to monitor project
budgets, expenditures and unspent allocations. In the case of the Montreal
Protocol, its Executive Committee had mandated that a standardized reporting
framework using EXCEL be followed. The Board noted that UNCDF has been piloting
the use of project financial management systems within the finance unit of the
Bureau for Policy and Programme Support and that UNSO was ready to transfer to
those systems once a needs assessment had been undertaken. The Board also noted
that UNDP-GEF is developing a project information management system, linked to
project financial management systems, to track GEF projects from inception to
completion. The Board endorses these efforts.

196. The computerized volunteexr management system of the United Nations
Volunteers programme was a key instrument for the efficient and effective
coperational and financial management of the programme. In 1995 UNV had
determined that the system needed enhancement, including the finance and funding
module, to record and monitor commitments and the project budget and volunteer
reporting systems. In particular, the system did not contain a facility to
identify how much had been spent on each project. UNV told the Board that it
would shortly be completing its enhancement of the finance and funding module to
improve the management of the programme’s resources. The Board welcomes these
improvements.

197. UNCDF and UNDP-GEF had established an internal financial reporting
mechanism which involved finance staff providing the Fund’s director with a
narrative summary highlighting issues arising from the Fund’s financial
statements and underlying financial reports. The Board endorses this practice
since it provides clear interpretation and explanation of the Fund’s financial
situation. The Board therefore recommends that such internal financial
reporting become a requirement for all funds administered by UNDP.

Monitoring, evaluation and review

198. For UNDP-GEF, most of the projects from the pilot phase were still ongoing
and, therefore, their impact had yet to be evaluated. UNDP-GEF had, however,
put in place procedures to ensure that projects were evaluated upon completion.
For the remaining funds reviewed, the scope of monitoring and evaluation
activities varied.

Montreal Protocol

199. The Board noted that, by March 1996, UNDP had completed 133 projects across
the full range of its activities under the Montreal Protocol but had not
evaluated the projects’ achievements other than recording the volume of ozone-
depleting substances which its investment projects had phased out. UNDP has,
however, recently developed draft terms of reference for monitoring reviews to
be undertaken jointly with Governments and the beneficiaries during the course
of country programmes. UNDP is also developing, for one investment project, an
evaluation report which it intends to use as a model. The Board endorses these
efforts and recommends that UNDP support them by establishing a monitoring and
evaluation strategy, with clearly defined criteria for selecting appropriate
programmes for joint monitoring reviews and projects for evaluation.
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United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM)

200. In September 1995, the Executive Board established terms of reference for
an external evaluation of UNIFEM, focusing on the programmes, impact and future
directions of the Fund. The evaluation started in February 1996 and was
expected to be submitted to the Executive Board in September 1996. The Board'
welcomes this evaluation study, which should help UNIFEM develop a coherent
strategy for monitoring and evaluating all of its activities.

Office to Combat Desertification and Drought (UNSO)

201. UNDP had restructured UNSO and redirected its activities away from
financing technical projects specifically intended to address problems of
desertification and dry land degradation and towards international and national
resource mobilization and advocacy programmes and support for the development of
policies, strategies and programmes at the country level. UNSO has recognized
that it needs to develop evaluation mechanisms to capture and demonstrate the
impact of those activities.

United Nations Volunteers programme (UNV)

202. To help UNV monitor and evaluate the programme, volunteers send reports to
UNV headquarters within the first three months of service; then annually, and
finally, upon completion of their assignments. At the time of the Board’s
review, UNV had developed revised reporting formats to make the volunteers’
reports more useful for monitoring and evaluation purposes. UNV had included
the requirement that volunteers record baseline information and establish
benchmarks at the start of their assignments against which UNV could then
measure progress and the achievement of objectives. UNV was developing possible
performance indicators.

203. The Board endorses UNV’'s efforts to improve its evaluation of the impact of
the programme.

United Nations Capital Develcopment Fund (UNCDF)

204. The Board noted that UNCDF had devoted considerable attention to its
monitoring and evaluation programme with the preparation of annual summaries of
evaluations, showing major achievements and highlighting shortcomings and
lessons to be learned. The Board endorses those efforts.

205. UNCDF has commissioned management consultants to identify any gaps in
UNCDF’s current capacity that would need to be filled to achieve its new policy
objectives and targets. This study was scheduled for completion in July 1996.
UNCDF informed the Board that in 1999 it will commission an evaluation to assess
its achievements and determine whether it should continue or cease operations.
The Board considers that this is a sound response to UNCDF’s emerging financial
situation.

Internal audit
Background
206. In its resolution 50/204 of 23 December 1995, the General Assembly

requested the Board of Auditors to follow up, and report at the earliest
opportunity, on shortcomings in internal audit coverage identified in earlier
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reports with a view to determining whether its recommendations had been
implemented and the situation rectified. The Board examined UNDP’s Division for
Audit and Management Review to assess the sufficiency of its independence,
resources, planning standards and follow-up action. Although the Division is
alsq responsible for providing internal audit services to UNFPA, the Board
focused on the Divigion’s role in respect of UNDP and the United Nations Office
for Project Services (UNOPS).

207. The Board noted that the Division was in the process of substantial change
and that it had launched a number of initiatives in 1996 to improve its
effectiveness and impact. 1In particular, the Board welcomed the Division’s
quality sexrvice initiative, which involved all its staff, covered a wide range
of issues and was aimed at improving the service provided to UNDP. As part of
this process, the Division had produced a series of discussion papers which
included proposals for substantially reorganizing the Division so as to increase
and rationalize its audit coverage and improve controcl over resouxrces. The
papers alsc covered such topics as benchmarking and best practice, staff
training and development, performance appraisal, professional practices,
reporting and communications, and work methods, as well as matters concerning
the Division’s relationship with the auditees and its staff.

Status and independence

208. The Division for Audit and Management Review is independent of all of the
operations which it is responsible for auditing, and the Director of the
Division reports, and is directly accountable, to the Office of the
Administrator in respect of its UNDP reviews. The Board is pleased to nocte
that, following a recommendation in its 1990-1991 report, UNDP took immediate
action to change its financial regulations and rules, with the approval of the
Governing Council, to provide internal audit with a sufficient legal basis for
carrying out its audit responsibilities.

209. To secure its budget and resources, the Division had to submit its resource
requirements to the Bureau for Finance and Administration in the same way as
other Divisions. The Board considered that, in practice, this did not unduly
limit the Division’s independence, since its Director had direct access to the
Administrator in the event of any disagreement.

210. The Board considered, however, that the Division’s role and infliuence in
UNDP was affected by the slowness of auditees to respond to its reports. The
Board noted that, by May 1996, the Division had received replies from resident
representatives to only 3 out of 10 country office reports issued between
October and December 1995. The Division closed some cases after a full year had
elapsed without response.

211. The Board noted that in some cases the Associate Administrator had
intervened to hasten responses and that UNOPS had assigned an officer to
coordinate management responses to audit reports with the aim of improving
timeliness. The Board also noted that the Division was strengthening its
follow-up procedures as part of its quality sexvice initiative.

212. In its 1990-1991 report, the Board had recommended that the Division should
not be assigned operational responsibilities. TUNDP reviewed the Division’s
roles in administering the audit requirements for nationally executed projects
and in coordinating the updating of manuals and concluded that there was no
conflict of interests. The Board accepts that the role of overseeing national
execution audits sits comfortably within internal audit. However, the Board
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considers that internal audit’s limited resources should be deployed on audit or
audited-related activities. The Board recommends that the Division’s non-audit
function of updating manuals should be transferred to an operational unit.

Regources

213. The Division for Audit and Management Review has three sections responsible
for UNDP and United Nations Office for Project Services (UNOPS) audits. The
Internal Audit Section audits UNDP and trust funds; the National Execution Audit
Section administers and monitors audits, by government-appointed auditors, of
nationally executed projects and undertakes a number of direct audits of country
office national execution programmes; and the Project Services Audit Section
audits UNOPS. The Division’s Management Review and Analysis Section is
responsible for updating UNDP’s manuals and carries out periodic audits and
reviews of UNDP’'s operations; it also provides information and training support
to the other sections of the Division.

214. From its 1990-1991 review of internal audit, the Board had concluded that
staffing levels were insufficient to provide comprehensive audit coverage. The
Board found that the Division remained understaffed during the 1994-1995
biennium: it was substantially unable to complete its planned programme of work
in 1994-1995 and six (24 per cent) of its Professional staff posts were vacant
throughout the biennium. The Division has since filled one of those posts and
has initiated action regarding the other vacancies. Most of the vacancies were
in the Intermal Audit Section.

215. In reply to the Board’s recommendation in its 1990-1991 report that the
internal audit coverage needed to be improved, UNDP had explained that it had
launched a pilot scheme which included the contracting out of country office
audits in the Asia/Pacific region to an international firm of accountants. That
arrangement has continued and a similar one has been established for the Africa
region. 1In total, these arrangements covered 68 country offices and cost

$1.7 million in 1994-1995,

Management of contractors

216. The Division for Audit and Management Review manages contractors through
outposted officers in the regional service centres and quality control review at
headquarters. The process includes reviewing the contractor’s working papers,
holding training sessions for their audit staff and conducting joint audits with
them. The Division also sends questionnaires to resident representatives
requesting their views on the quality of service provided by the firms. The
Divigion told the Board that, although use of the firms had contributed to a
significant increase in audit coverage of country offices, additional demands
had been placed on headquarters staff in reviewing the firms’ reports. The
Board confirmed that the reports prepared by two firms had required significant
input by the Division to improve their scope, content and quality.

217. The Division has provided formal feedback to the firms on its assessment of
the quality of their work, pointing out major areas requiring improvement, and
has withheld payments of $322,000 and $62,000 due to the firms as a result of
gaps in performance. Both payments have since been released.

218. The Division told the Board that there had been progressive improvement and
that it expected this to continue az the firms learned from experience. 1In
January 1995, UNDP renewed the contract covering UNDP country offices in the
Asia/Pacific region, at a cost of $842,000 for 1995 and 1596, and in
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January 1996, it renewed the contract covering UNDP country offices in the
Africa region, at a cost of $2.7 million for 1996 and 1997.

dit verage

219. In 1994-1995, while the use of contractors enabled the Division for Audit
and Management Review to cover all 68 UNDP country offices in two regions, there
were significant shortfalls in coverage elsewhere, due in the main to unplanned
and ad hoc investigations having to be undertaken. The Internal Audit Section
completed only 46 out of 68 planned audits. In particular, it carried out only
one major management audit at headquarters in 1995 compared with the seven
planned. The National Execution Audit Section completed only 20 out of 30
planned country office audits; and the Project Services Audit Section completed
16 out of 19 planned audits. In addition, there were major changes to the plans
in 1994. In response to urgent problems, the Internal Audit Section substituted
six of its eight planned headquarters audits and the Project Services Audit
Section substituted five of its ten planned audits.

220. The Board considers that the shortfall in delivery and the changes in
planned work significantly diminished the value of the Division’s audit plans,
which were intended to ensure efficient and effective coverage of the audit
field.

221. Over the last six years, the Division has examined only four funde and
trust funds. Although some of the Division’s other audit activities, together
with the programme of audits by the regional service centres, touched on
projects and programmes financed by funds and trust funds, these were not
focused specifically on the funds themselves or on thematic aspects associated
with the management of such funds. The Division recognized the need to maintain
adequate audit coverage of trust funds, and it scheduled further audits in this
area for 1996.

222. In view of the significant growth in the number and resources of funds and
trust funds, the Board considers that internal audit coverage of such funds has
been insufficient in comparison with coverage of UNDP's main activities. The
Board therefore recommends that the Division develop a cyclical programme of
internal audit reviews of the funds. It should focus particularly on the larger
funds but should also take account of significant areas of risk and known
problems or emerging developments, and should consider undertaking thematlc
reviews concerning financial and operational management issues which are common
to all funds.

Audi lanni

223. In its report for the 1990-1991 biennium, the Board noted that the Division
for Audit and Management Review had not prepared a medium-term plan identifying
all auditable activities over a three-to-five-year period. The Board also noted
that the Division did not document how it identified potential audit areas and
how it determined priorities for its annual audit plans. UNDP assured the Board
that the Division would establish a medium-term plan.

224. The Board noted that the Internal Audit Section had drawn up a long-term
plan through which it expected every headquarters unit and UNDP country office
to be audited at least once in a seven-vear cycle. The Section anticipated that
the implementation of additional regional service centres, further contracting
with private-sector auditing firms and improvements in the quality and scope of
the fFirms’ services would increase the audit coverage of country offices and

-50~-



release staff resources of the Division to carry out more audits at UNDP
headquarters. In this way the Section expects to increase its coverage from six
headquarters audits and 84 country office audits in 1995 to 14 headquarters and
132 country offices by 2001. BERA

225. The Board welcomes the Division’s commitment to a comprehensive programme
of audits at headquarters and in country offices. The Division had not, '
however, recorded its estimate of the level of resources required to achievé the
plan, including staff resources required to manage and review contractors’ work.
In view of the Division’s limited resources, the Board is concerned that the
plan should be realistic, and it therefore recommends that the Division assess
and record the plan’s resource implications and skill needs for the work
proposed, taking account of the likelihood of ad hoc demands.

226. Within its long-term plan, the Internal Audit Section identified an annual
plan and a pipeline of audits for the ensuing years. The Board was unable,
however, to identify a clear statement of the criteria used to select the annual
audits, particularly those of headquarters units. The Division explained that
its selection depended on the length of time since the previous audit, any known
emerging problems and any specific request for a special audit. ‘

227. The Project Services Audit Section drew up annual plans but had not
prepared a longer-term audit plan. Although it consulted the United Nations
Office for Project Services (UNOPS) over the selection of audit subjects, the
Division could not demonstrate that the Project Services Audit Section had
undertaken a thorough review of its audit field. Moreover, the Board was unable
to identify a clear statement of the criteria used to select the annual audits.
The Division told the Board that, in selecting UNOPS subjects for audit, it
considered issues such as materiality and risk based on its experience and
knowledge of UNOPS, but that it did not document those assessments.

228. The National Execution Section prepared an annual audit plan of projects to
be audited by government auditors. The Board’s comments on these arrangements
are in part I of the present report. For its own audits of country office
national execution programmes, the Section bPrepared an annual plan of country
offices to be visited but did not draw up a long-term plan.

229. The Board therefore recommends that, in preparing its audit plans, the
Division clearly document the criteria used to select each subject; these should
include materiality, known and potential risks and the timeliness of the
proposed audit. The Board also recommends that all audit sections should be
required to produce long-term plans to show how they propose to cover their
audit field over a given cycle. The Division should assess the likely resource
needs to fulfil the programme of work and should identify the consequences of
any shortfalls and include plans for overcoming them.

Audit documentation

230. The Board examined 24 audit reports issued in 1994-1995. For the

12 reports prepared by contractors, the Board was unable to comment on the
supporting documentation as the Division for Audit and Management Review did not
receive the supporting working papers. The Board noted, however, that the
Internal Audit Section closely reviewed the contractors’ draft reports,
recording their detailed comments, requests for further clarification and
editorial changes. For the reports brepared by the Division’s own staff, the
Board found that there was no standard documentation clearly setting out the
audit procedures undertaken and the findings and conclusions, and there were no
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clear, up-to-date permanent records of auditees’ organigrams, systems and key
controls. The Board noted that this problem was being addressed as part of the
Division’s quality service initiative. The Board recommends that the Division
establish standard documentation, showing procedures, findings and conclusions,
to provide a more transparent basis for the preparation and review of reports,
and that it update its permanent files with basic information on the auditees.

Audit standards and computer audit

231. The Division for Audit and Management Review has prepared, and issued to
each of its staff, a two-volume intermal audit manual, setting out audit methods
and procedures. The Board noted, however, that the first volume of the manual
was issued in December 1984 and has not been updated since. The Division
informed the Board that it proposed to update its manual and other guidance as
part of its quality-service initiative. The Board recommends that the Division
update the manual, streamlining it to make it more user-friendly and relevant to
auditors’ current needs.

232. To help internal auditors and contractors’ staff undertake country office
audits, the Division has prepared comprehensive country office management audit
guidelines. In addition, it prepared a planning memorandum for each management
audit, setting out the audit’s scope, objectives, risks and timetable, and
provided clear terms of reference for the audits. It told the Board that it was
developing guidelines specific to its UNOPS audits. The Board endorses those
efforts.

233. The Division had a certified information systems auditor with specialist
computer audit skills, who concentrated on examining systems under development,
regarding these as representing the most significant area of rigk. The Board
endorges internal audit’s involvement in such developments but considers that
the Division should also cover the operation of UNDP’s and UNOPS's key
headquarters systems. The Board therefore recommends that the Division survey
the risks associated with the operation of headquarters computer systems and
provide audit coverage as appropriate.

Reporting and follow-up

234, The Director of the Division for Audit and Management Review is responsible
for issuing all internal audit reports, including those which are based on the
work of contractors. In the sample of 24 reports examined, the Board found that
the Divigion had recorded and actively pursued responses.

235. Much of the work of the National Execution Audit Section consists of
monitoring the results of the independent audits carried out by government
auditors on nationally executed projects and providing feedback to the
respective resident representatives. The Board examined the 1994 audit reports
for 17 countries and found that the Division had issued letters to resident
representatives for only six of them. Moreover, none of the letters addressed
the concerns raised by the auditors or any shortcomings in the audits
themselves. For example, the Board found little evidence that the Section
followed up on cases in which the government auditors had failed to give an
audit opinion on nationally executed projects. The Board considers that it is
particularly important for the Section to follow up on auditors’ reports, to
ensure that appropriate lessons are learned by the auditors and that their
findings are brought to the attention of Governments. The Board therefore
recommends that the Section establish a formal mechanism to ensure that
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ghortcomings are identified and brought to the attention of government auditors,
country offices and Governments.

236. In general, there was evidence that the Division carefully reviewed the
responses to its own reports. The Bocard noted, however, that when auditees
promised to take remedial action, the Division only followed up on those
proposals when conducting a subsequent audit. The Division told the Board that
it considered implementation to be the regponsibility of the auditees and that
there was routine follow-up of previous internal audit recommendations as part
of the annual audits of the 68 country offices in the Asia/Pacific and Africa
regions.

237. The Board considers, however, that there is scope for improving the
Division’s follow-up activity with a view to assessing the impact of internal
audit work, and it welcomes the Division’s plan to strengthen follow-up action
as part of its quality-service initiative. The Board recommends that the
Division establish a procedure to follow up on UNDP and UNOPS action in response
to its recommendations so as to demonstrate the improvements made. The Division
uses a computer database to record its recommendations, and the Board suggests
that it develop this to facilitate follow-up, targeting the most important
recommendations.

Staff training

238. Three of the 19 Professional staff had professional accountancy
qualifications, and other staff of the Division for Audit and Management Review
had considerable academic qualifications, mostly concerning finance and
accounting at an advanced level. The Division was assessing the core
competencies needed, as part of its quality-service initiative.

239. The Board found that during 1994-1995 Division staff had attended 77
training courses, 42 of which provided training in the use of information
technology, while others were intended to improve, for example, audit,
management and report-writing skills. The Board noted that two staff members
were certified fraud examiners and that 14 would be attending, in October 1996,
a training course to strengthen their fraud investigation skills.

Fraud and presumptive fraud

240. UNDP informed the Board of 15 cases of fraud and presumptive fraud which
had been identified during the biennium. 1In 10 cases, UNDP had identified
financial losses totalling $283,604, of which it had recovered $253,800 in
respect of three cases. In the remaining five cases, investigations were still
ongoing to identify financial loss. Thirteen of the cases involved staff
members and disciplinary action had so far been taken in six cases.

~-53-




Acknowledgement

241. The Board of Auditors wishes to express its appreciation for the
cooperation and assistance extended to its staff by the Administrator and staff

of the United Nations Development Programme.

31 July 1986

-54-

(Signed) Osei Tutu PREMPEH
Auditor General of Ghana

(signed) Sir John BOURN
Comptroller and Auditor General
of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Northern Ireland

(Signed) Vijay Krishna SHUNGLU
Comptroller and Auditor General
of India



ANNEX

Follow-up on action by the United Nations Development Programme
to implement the recommendations of the Board of Auditors in
its report for the biennium ended 31 December 1993 a/

I. RECOMMENDATION 9 (a)

1. UNDP should report to the Executive Board on how the funds held in the
reserve for transitional measures will be utilized.

Measures taken by the Administration

2. In July 1994, UNDP reported (DP/1994/35) that the reserve would be utilized
for transitional salary costs, training and systems development.

Comments of the Board

3. The Board noted that as at 31 December 1995, UNDP had fully utilized the
$7.2 million allocation to the reserve for the activities reported to the
Executive Board. The Board has reported further on the reserve for transitional
measures in its present report.

II. RECOMMENDATION S (b)

4. An overall implementation plan should be drawn up for the disposal of
properties in the field.

Meagures taken by the Administration

5. UNDP presented a preliminary three-year plan to the Executive Board at its
first regular session in January 1995 (DP/1995/10/Add.1). Since then, UNDP has
undertaken a full review of the housing and common premises operations, with the
assistance of external consultants. UNDP planned to submit a comprehensive
status report to the Executive Board in September 1996.

Comments of the Board

6. The Board welcomes the review which UNDP has undertaken on the operations
funded through the reserve. The Board continues to be concerned by the level of
over-expenditures and has reported on this in detail in its present report.

III. RECCMMENDATION 9 (c)

7. UNDP should clarify its guidelines on the definition of unliquidated
obligations.

a/ Official Records of the General Assembl Forty-ninth Session

Supplement No. 53 (A/49/5/Rdd.1l), sect. II, paras. 9-13.
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Measgsures taken by the Administration

8. UNDP clarified its year-end instructions to all certifying officers at
headgquarters and in the country offices. UNDP also issued improved guidance on
procedures for reviewing year-end accounts, and it conducted training exercises.

Comments of the Board

9. While welcoming the positive actions taken by UNDP, the Board was concerned
that a number of unliquidated cbligations at 31 December 1895 did not meet the
criteria set out in the accounting policies and therefore did not represent
valid liabilities at 31 December 1995. The main reasons for the errors were:
failure to reference disbursements processed through the country office
accounting system to the relevant obligations; and obligations raised for
activities relating to future years. The Board urged UNDP to continue to
monitor and strengthen its procedures for reviewing and recording obligations,
particularly at the end of a financial period.

IV. RECOMMENDATION 9 (d4)

10. UNDP and the executing agencies should work jointly to address the problems
with the successor support-cost arrangements that were encountered in 1992-1993.

Measures taken by the Administration

11. TUNDP worked closely with the executing agencies through the Inter-Agency
Task Force on Support Costs to address evolving policy and operational issues.
Further work has been undertaken by UNDP and the executing agencies to simplify
gupport-cost arrangements. In 1994 the Executive Board authorized greater
flexibility in the deployment of Technical Support Services resources, resulting
in more effective utilization (decision 94/26). BAlso, as part of the new
programming arrangements, variocus support cost earmarkings were consclidated
into three separate lines. Further proposals for simplification of support
costs were submitted to the Executive Board in February 1996 (DP/1996/13).

Comments of the Board

i2. The Board was pleased to note considerable improvement in the reporting of
support costs. The Board found no significant differences in the support costs
reported by UNDP in schedule 5.1 to the financial statements and the support
costs reported by the executing agencies.

V. RECOMMENDATION 9 (e)

13. UNDP should aim to review and decide all cases involving financial loss and
personal responsibility within six months. In addition, when staff are
appointed to senior positions with significant financial responsibilities, they
should be sent a personal letter of appointment setting out succinctly the
nature of those responsibilities and how they will be held accountable.
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Measures taken by the Adminigtration

14. 1In 1994, following internal discussions and consultations with the United
Nations Office of Legal Affairs, UNDP put the standing committee into abeyance
pending the outcome of a comprehensive review of all financial and management
accountability systems in UNDP. UNDP expected to submit to the Executive Board
in September 1996 a comprehensive report on its proposals for an internal
justice system. In the meantime, cases are being dealt with by management
groups within UNDP that are responsible for reviewing staff performance and
related issues. When UNDP has. the results of the review, it will develop a
letter of appointment setting out staff responsibilities and accountabilities.
UNDP is also collaborating with the United Nations on the development of a code
of ethics for all United Nations staff.

Commentg of the Board

15. The Board notes UNDP's continued commitment to the issue of personal
responsibility and encourages it to promote a strong culture of accountability.

VI. RECOMMENDATION 10 {a)

16. UNDP should consider streamlining the country programme management plan to
focus on key issues in which headquarters support is required.

Measures taken by the Administration

17. The integrated programme management project has defined critical
information needs of country offices and headquarters, on the basis of which a
set of integrated support and monitoring mechanisms and instruments to manage
the next programming cycle is being developed which will include instruments to
streamline and enhance country office reporting. These were expected to be
available for trial operation in June 1996.

Comments of the Board

18. TUnder the new programme review and support system, UNDP had eliminated the
country programme management plan and revised the basis on which headquarters
units provide support and external expertise to country offices. Every three
years, resident representatives will report to the new Programme Management
Oversight Committee at headquarters, which will focus on accountability,
programme support and quality control. The Board endorses these developments
and notes that UNDP intended to review the working of the new system by
December 1996.

VII. RECOMMENDATION 10 (b}

19. The integrated programme management project should be afforded high
priority and should be developed as scon as practicable.
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Measures taken bv the Administration

20. The implementation of the integrated programme management project is being
actively pursued. The major components are already in operation. The overall
conceptual framework for the project, including a detailed plan and budget, has
been completed. Global implementation of expanded programme finance mocdules was
expected by January 1997.

Comments of the Board

21. The Board welcomes UNDP's commitment to the integrated programme management
project. The Board notes, however, that UNDP has yet to complete the
development of several key systems within the project, including the country
office financial information management system, the executive information
system, and the document management system which is currently a pilot project.
The Board would urge UNDP to continue to press forward with these developments
80 as to complete the integrated programme management project as soon as
practicable.

VIII. RECOMMENDATION 10 {c}

22. UNDP should perform an evaluation of the effectiveness of local project
appraisal committees as a matter of some urgency.

Measures taken by the Administration

23. A new programme review and support system has been created which will
include programme formulation and the role of project appraisal committees.

e of the Board

24. The programme review and support system has retained local project
appraisal committees but widened participation to include technical specialists,
government officials, and representatives of non-governmental organizations and
United Nations agencies. The Board endorses these new arrangements.

IX. RECOMMENDATION 10 (4)
25. The appraisal process should be reinforced by systematic recording and
follow-up of the recommendations of project appraisal committees.
Measures taken by the Administration
26. TUNDP agreed with the Board’s recommendation and pointed out that formal
procedures to ensure compliance with the recommendations of project appraisal

committees would be introduced as part of the programme review and support
system.
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o] nts of the Board

27. TUnder the programme review and support system, a permanent record should be
maintained by the country office of the minutes of the local project appraisal
committee meetings, and the regional bureau project appraisal committee should
then verify that local committee recommendations have been acted on. The Board
noted, however, that UNDP had clearly specified these requirements in the new
manual for the programming of UNDP resources, and it therefore recommends that
UNDP incorporate and highlight these requirements in the manual.

X. RECOMMENDATION 10 (e)

28. Suitable guidance (including training) on setting appropriate objectives
and measuring their achievement should be provided to programme staff.

Measures taken by the Adminigtration

29. The programme impact performance assessment system has been tested in two
countries and introduced in some centres of experimentation and headquarters
units. The system evaluates impact by establishing an objective basis for
measuring results at the design/planning stage, by results-oriented monitoring
during implementation and by better understanding of impact through value-added
evaluations. Regional workshops have been conducted to explore new evaluation
dimensions, and training in participatory evaluation techniques has been
introduced for programme staff. Training modules will be developed.

Comments of the Board

30. The Board endorses UNDP's efforts in this regard and urges UNDP to expand
the use of the programme impact performance assessment system as soon as
practicable.

XI. RECOMMENDATION 10 (f)
31. All parties involved in a project should formally approve the completed
work plan to signify their commitment to achieving project objectives in the
proposed time-frame and their agreement that the plan is realistic.
Me re aken he Administration
32. UNDP agreed with the Board’s recommendation and said that it was being
acted on within the context of the new programme review and support system.
cmments of the Board
33. The Board examined the new manual for the programming of UNDP resources
which supports the introduction of the programme review and support system but
was unable to identify any reference to the need for work plans to be approved

by all parties involved in a project. The Board therefore recommends that UNDP
promulgate this requirement as a matter of priority.
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XII. RECOMMENDATION 10 (g}

34. UNDP should reaffirm the requirement for on-site monitoring of projects.

Measures taken by the Administration

35. UNDP agreed with the principle underlying the Board’s recommendation but
wished to ensure that rather than being automatic, such visits should be
directed to problem-golving and should be assigned on a priority basis. This
issue was being addressed within the context of the programme review and support
system.

Comments of the Board

36. The Board was unable to determine how the reguirement for on-site
monitoring of projects was being dealt with through the programme review and
support system. As the new manual did not make any reference to this matter,
the Board recommends that UNDP issue appropriate guidance on it

XIIi. RECOMMENDATION 10 (h)

37. UNDP should introduce a formal mechanism to ensure that lessons learned
from project evaluations are disseminated effectively.

Measures taken by the Adminigtration

38. UNDP has established the Office of Evaluation and Strategic Planning to
help ensure that future programming incorporates past lessons. The integrated
programme management project and the programme impact performance assessment
system will improve the monitoring systems, which are fundamental to the
jmplementation of new evaluation dimensions. The new series of "lessons
learned” publications will facilitate the application of evaluation findings at
the programme and project level. Seven titles were issued in 1995 and others
were scheduled to appear in 1996. In addition, on-line access to the central
evaluation database was to be available by December 1996.

Comments of the Board
39. The Board welcomes UNDP’'s efforts in this regard and suggests that UNDP
canvass its headquarters units and country offices periodically to assgess the
extent to which the publications and the database are used and meet users’
needs.
XIV. RECOMMENDATION 11
40. Formal records, appropriately signed and reviewed, should be maintained

which record the consultants considered for a post, the selection criteria
applied, and justification of the final choice.
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Measures taken by the Administration

4l. In July 1995 UNDP issued revised guidelinez for the use of special service
agreements.

Comments of the Board

42. The revised guidelines, which became effective on 1 September 1995,
introduced competition into the process of selecting consultants and temporary
support personnel through the use of rosters. In particular, the revised
guidelines require hiring units to document in full their competitive reviews of
candidates and to provide such documentation and a clear justification of choice
for review by the personnel unit concerned. The Board endorses these new
arrangements.

XV. RECOMMENDATION 12 {a)

43. TUNDP should evaluate the potential cost and benefits of sponsoring staff in
a formal programme of training {(in procurement) .

Meagures taken by the Administration

44. In January 1995, the United Nations Office for Project Services (UNOPS) ,
together with George Washington University, developed and conducted a
comprehensive 13-day training programme for contracting of services. Over 100
staff from UNOPS, as well as the United Nations and UNDP and other agencies
participated. The programme has been consolidated into a four-day course for
future presentation at headquarters and in the field. In addition, the Inter-
Agency Procurement Services Office (IAPSO) organized basic procurement courses
in 1995, which were attended by 97 staff members from UNDP and other agencies.
For 1996, eight courses are planned, four of which will be in the field.

Comments of the Board

45. The Board welcomes the action taken on its recommendation. The Board notes
that UNOPS has requested George Washington University to assess the impact of
the course, particularly the extent to which skills and knowledge have been
transferred to UNDP's staff, through a formal evaluation exercise. The Board
recommends that UNDP ensure that this exercise also covers UNDP staff.

XVI. RECOMMENDATION 12 (b)
46. Response rates to invitations to bid should be closely monitored by

Management to identify the major reasons for non-response and to correct any
recurring problems.

Meagures taken by the Administration

47. A tightening of UNDP procurement procedures will be reflected in the new
manual of operations management scheduled to be issued later in 1996.
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Comments of the Board

48. The Board welcomes UNDP’s plan to publish a new manual of operations
management. It notes that UNDP intends to draw on the materials produced for
the procurement training programme and plans to complete the manual by
December 1996.

XVII. RECOMMENDATION 12 {c)}

49. UNDP should improve its use of supplier rosters.

Me ken he Adminigtration

50. TUNDP initiated contacts with the United Nations Secretariat in order to
access its roster system. In addition, the common vendor database developed by
IAPSO is now installed in UNDP headquarters. The IAPSO common vendor database
contains over 7,000 active suppliers worldwide; it is updated on the basis of
information received from United Nations agencies and is distributed to all UNDP
country offices.

Comments of the Board

51. UNDP does not have access to the roster system of the United Nations
Secretariat. The Board, however, welcomes UNDP’'s increased emphasis on the use
of rosters through the implementation of the common vendor database at
headquarters and in the field.

XVIII. RECOMMENDATION 12 (d)

52. UNDP should make more use of public advertising.

Measures taken by the Administration

53. While in most cases public advertising has proven impractical for
headquarters procurement, it has been used for the selection of preferred
suppliers. For larger procurement, UNDP country offices make use of IAPSO’'S
monthly procurement bulletin and other publications. In accordance with
existing financial rules, shortlisting is the preferred procurement approach for
orders under $100,000.

Comments of the Board

54. The Board welcomes UNDP’‘s use of public advertising and would urge UNDP to
continue with this approach where it is cost-effective.

XIX. RECOMMENDATION 12 (e}
55. UNDP should consider adopting a more flexible role for the Contracts

Committee and invite purchasing specialists from other organizations, public and
private, to attend meetings of the Committee to bolster its expertise in procurement.
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Measureg taken by the Administration

56. UNDP has adopted the United Nations System Common Guidelines on
Procurement, developed by the inter-agency procurement working group. UNDP will
reflect these in the new manual of cperations management.

Comments of the Board

57. The Board welcomes UNDP’s adoption of the United Nations System Common
Guidelines on Procurement. The Board notes, however, that UNDP has not taken
any action on the Board’s recommendation that the Contracts Committee should be
bolstered with external expertise. UNDP agrees that the Committee should
benefit from a better understanding of modern procurement practice but has
pointed out that there are financial implications in such an agreement which
merit careful consideration. The Board acknowledges UNDP’s concerns but
recommends that action be taken to explore these issues so that UNDP is better
placed to decide on how to proceed.

XX. RECOMMENDATION 12 ({f)

58. UNDP should emphasize to all staff the importance of completing receipt and
inspection reports.

Measures taken by the Administration

'59. The major component of procurement by UNDP headquarters is office supplies.
In this regard, the problem of receiving reports has largely been resolved
through revised instructions issued in February 1994. UNDP is exploring the
possibility of introducing a purchasing card system to further resolve the
problem of receiving reports and streamline the headquarters procurement
process. In addition, a new purchase-order software system is being developed
for improved control procedures at the user level.

Commentg of the Board

60. UNDP is working with its preferred supplier of office materials to develop
and implement a purchasing card system for stanfiard items. Such a system would
assign clear authority and responsibility to the budget holder for receipt of
the items supplied. UNDP expected the system to be fully operational by
September 1996. The Board endorses this initiative.

XXI. RECOMMENDATION 12 (g)
61. UNDP should introduce performance measures and targets as soon as

practicable to assist management in monitoring and assessing the efficiency of
procurement activities.

Measures taken by the Administration

62. Performance measures will be developed on an experimental basis once the
purchasing card system is in operation.
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Comments of the RBoaxd

63. UNDP is concerned that the tailoring of performance indicators to the
specific conditions of each unit involved in procurement could be a difficult
task. The Board is disappointed, however, that UNDP has not taken any action on
this matter and would therefore urge UNDP -to take action on the Board’s
recommendation as soon as possible.

XXIT. RECOMMENDATION 13

64. UNDP should establish a documented information technology strategy which
clearly sets out objectives, priority areas, timetables and resource
implications.

Measgureg taken by the Administration

65. The strategy on information technolegy, developed in the context of the
integrated programme management (IPM) system and the integrated management
information system ({IMIS) as the main cocmponents, has been completed and
approved by the main information systems decision-making body, the IPM/IMIS
8teering Committee.

Comments of the Board

66. The Board welcomes the preparation of the new UNDP corporate information
management strategy, together with a common system development methodoclogy, and
corporate data model to ensure that systems can be integrated. The Board notes,
however, that the strategy has not yet been approved by the Executive Committee,
which has overall authority for strategic planning and policy within UNDP. The
Board therefore recommends that the strategy be submitted to the Executive
Committee as a matter of priority.
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III. AUDIT OPINION

We have examined the following appended financial statements, numbered I
to IV, properly identified, schedules 1 to 12 and the supporting explanatory
notes of the United Nations Development Programme for the period ended
31 December 1995 in accordance with the Common Auditing Standards of the Panel
of External Auditors of the United Nations, the specialized agencies and the
International Atomic Energy Agency, except that the scope of our work was
limited by the matters referred to below and as explained in paragraphs 64-68 of
our report. Our examination included a general review of the accounting
procedures and such tests of the accounting records and other supporting
evidence as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

Except for the effect of any adjustments that may be found to be necessary
upon receipt of outstanding audited expenditure statements relating to
nationally executed projects, in our opinion the financial statements present
fairly the financial position of the United Nations Development Programme as at
31 December 1995 and the results of its operations for the financial period then
ended; that they were prepared in accordance with the stated accounting policies
which were applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding financial
period; and that the transactions were in accordance with the Financial
Regulations and the relevant legislative authority.

In accordance with our usual practige, we have issued a long form report on
our audit of the United Nations Development Programme’s financial statements, as
provided for in the Financial Regulations.

(Signed) Osei Tutu PREMPEH
Auditor General of Ghana

(Signed) Sir John BOURN
Comptroller and Auditor General
of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Northern Ireland

{Signed) Vijay Krishna SHUNGLU
Comptroller and Auditor General
of India

31 July 1996
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IV. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE BIENNIUM ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1995
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STATEMENT il

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Ceneral Fund; Statement of cash flows for the biennium ended 31 December 1995

{United States dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net excess income over expenditure
Decrease in other accounts receivable
Increase in operating funds provided to Govemments (net)
Increase in operating funds provided to executing agencies (net)
. Increase in reserve for transitional measures
Increase in reserve for budgeted separations
Decrease in unliquidated obligations
Increase in accounts payable

Net cash from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING AND FINANCING ACT IVITIES

Increase in due from UNFPA
Increase in inter-fund balances {net)
Increase in accrued interest
Decrease in due to United Nations
Increase in due to UNOPS

Net cash from investing and financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM OTHER SOURCES

Savings on prior biennium’s obligations

Transfers to reserves

Transfers from other funds

Transfers of resources to UNOPS
Nef cash from other sources
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH, LETTERS OF CREDITS AND INVESTMENTS
CASH, LETTERS OF CREDIT AND INVESTMENTS AS AT 1 JANUARY 1994

CASH, LETTERS OF CREDIT AND INVESTMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 1995
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1994-1995

490 457 855
2010 413
{48 328 627)
{15 002 420)
1235774
5997 868
(9 890 744)
11308 731

437 788 850

(4 102 244)
223 683 208
{9 067 099)
{3 743 227)
—5170453

11 941 091

6 003 775
(22 400 000)
182 216

(10 238 364)
{26 452 373)
623 277 568

—954 029 836

1577 307 404
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UNDP ACCOUNT

interest-bearing current accounts

Call accounts
Time deposits

Bonds and notes
Other Securities

Total

FUNDS AND TRUST FUNDS

Linited Nations Capital Development Fund

Interest-bearing current accounts

Call accounts
Time deposits

Bonds and notes
Other securities

Total

Call accounts
Time deposits

Total

Interest-bearing current accounts

Call accounts
Time deposits

Total

United Nations Volunteers Programme

Interest-bearing current accounts

Call accounts
Time deposits

Total

SCHEDULE 3

(United States dollars)

United Nations Revolving Fund for Natural Resources Exploration

Trust Fund to Combat Desertification_and Drought (UNSO)
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UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Investments as at 31 December 1995

(statement I}

(schedule 8)

{schedule 8}

(schedule 8)

(schedﬁie 8)

1995

7722 218

2 859 204
1242 997 463
200 376 120
97 573 362

1551 528 367

6 499
1900

66 042 000
30 523 940
10000 000

106 574 339

3 000
1 900 000

1 003 000

1057
1 800
14 780 000

14 782 857

6 277
1 000
27 880 000

27887277




SCHEDULE 3 {conciuded)

1995

United Nations Fund for Science and Technology for Development

Call accounts 1 000

Time deposits 975 000

Total {schedule 8) 976 000
Unijted Nations Development Fund for Women.

Call accounts 1 000

Time deposits 525 000

Total {schedule 8) 526 000
UNDP Trust Fund for the Nationhood Programme of the Fund for Namibia

Time deposits 520 000

Total (schedule 8.1) 520 000
Pérez-Guerrero Trust Fund for Economic and Technical Cooperation
among Developing Countries

Call accounts 1100

Time deposits 2 605 435

Bonds and notes 4 054 070

Total {schedule 8.1) 6 660 605
Trust Fund for Environmenta! Conservation in Bhutan

Time deposits 8 584 963

Bonds and notes 3 003 663

Total {schedule 8.1) el 388 626
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SCHEDULE 4

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Generat Fund; Other income and expenditure
for the biennium ended 31 December 1995

{United States dollars)

Miscellaneous income from accounts
of executing agencies (net)

Net adjustments on revaluation of
currencies and gains/losses on exchange (note 2 (d))

Miscellaneous write-offs

Expert hiatus financing, extended sick
leave costs and compensation payments

Additional programme support costs
(reimbursement)/recovery

Donations
Other

Total (statement I)

-78-

1994-1995

1 085 586

29 644 841

(178 004)

(496 231)

(53 459)
135
1770177
31773 045
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SCHEDULE 6

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

General Fund: Expenditure against UNDP core activities by major category of expenditure

he biennium en 1 December 1

{United States dollars)

Expenditure

Revised Unliquidated Total
Programme appropriations Disbursements obligations

Salaries and wages 200 790 300 186 241 723 1 893 984 188 135 707
Common staff costs 135 600 100 128 153 046 12 821 705 140 974 751
Travel on official business 12 344 100 10 576 827 831982 11 408 809
Contractual services 9 398 500 7 286 746 663 067 7 949 813
Generating operating

expenses 69 639 000 56 139 401 3 101 186 59 240 587
Supplies and materials 8 693 100 6 085 788 369 804 6 455 592
Acquisition of furniture

and equipment 19 854 700 13 875 378 3 408 327 17 283 705
UNDP share of joint

activities within the

United Nations system 15 711,500 18 578 118 2 800 129 21 378 247
Total 472 031 300 426 937 027 25 890 184 452 827 211 o

SERTISREEDNCRNT

8/ Shown on schedule 2 as UNDP core activities {(§364,370,488) and support to the operational activities of the United
Nations ($88,456,723).
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SCHEDULE 8.1

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Funds_and trust funds: status of other trust funds administered by UNDP

e biennium en

3 cember 1995

{United States dollars)

Balance as at Balance as at Unspent
Name of Trust Fund 1 January 1994 Income Expenditure 31 December 1995  Allocations
UNDP Trust Fund for the Nationhood Programme
of the Fund for Namibia 173 366 57 609 102 891 128 084 -
Trust Fund for the Training in the Russian
Federation of Specialists from Developing
Countries 133 038 334 133 372 - -
Trust Fund for the Special Nethariands Contribution
for the Least Developed Countries 960 616 71 468 352 581 679 503 502 798
UNDP Trust Fund for Developing Countries
Afflicted by Famine and Malnutrition 870 193 1 930 016 1 508 490 1291 719 1235695
Perez-Guerrero Trust Fund for Economic and
Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries 6 294 410 722 429 863 448 6 153 391 272 558
UNDP Trust Fund for Assistance to Refuges-related
Development Projects in Africa 1619 602 79 168 896 911 801 859 553 547
UNDP Trust Fund to Combat Poverty and Hunger in Africa 662 095 64 083 - 726 178 34 864
Trust Fund for the Norwegian Contribution to the
Angolan Petroleum Training Centre in Sumbe 530 676 40 778 - 571 454 -
UNDP Trust Fund for Humanitarian and Rehabilitation
Assistance for Cambodia B34 897 92 835 843 318 134 414 39 603
Trust Fund for Emergency Assistance to the People’s
Republic of Mozambique 1674 692 121 241 384 875 1411058 989 465
Trust Fund for Environmental Conservation in Bhutan 10 404 518 1552 846 264 222 11 693 142 12 482
Trust Fund for the Reintegration of Demobilized
Military Personnel in Mozambique - 37 925 828 28 689 705 9236123 8 546 635
UNDP Trust Fund for Rwanda - 20 704 699 3 829 638 16 875 061 4 639 598
Australian Development Assistance Bureau (ADAB)/
UNDP Programme Trust Fund 701 361 75 459 42 798 734 022 6 392
CIDA {Canadian International Development Aqsncy)lléND:;']l;m
Bangladesh National Household Survey Capability

:f::r:;:rtn’r traieceeh Tatlond Hotse 168 629 9 290 98 958 78 961 13 763
CIDA/UNDP Trust Fund for the Caribbean Project
Development Facility {6 689) - {6 689) - 20 664
UNDP Trust Fund for Receipt of Payment by
Users of the Caribbean Project Development Facility 980 506 52 997 1003 421 30 082 81588
CIDA/UNDP Trust Fund for the Pakistan National
Household Survey Capability Programme 76 018 5693 12115 69 596 21 299
UNDP Trust Fund for Action on Development Issues {270 582) 2 018 000 1565 221 182 197 147 649
UNDP Trust Fund for Assistance 1o the Technical
Cooperation Fund between Peru and Argentina to
Administer Food Aid 195 671 15 091 831 209 931 78 355
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SCHEDULE 8.1 {continued)

Balance as at Balance as at Unspent
Name of Trust Fund 1 january 1994  Income Expenditure 31 December 1995  Allocations
UNDP/Live Aid Foundation Trust Fund 43 650 3354 - 47 004 -
UNDP/United Support of Artists for Africa Trust Fund 295 500 23 545 - 319 045 -
Government of France Trust Fund for the UNDP/World
Bank Energy Sector Assessment Programme 1320 693 99 510 320 008 1100195 744 571
Nicosia Master Plan: Implementation Phase 88 829 3953 89 838 2 944 -
Finland/UNDP Trust Fund for the Construction of
an Agro-Veterinary School in Rushashi 1 260 634 103 156 201 800 1162 040 302 092
Finland Trust Fund for National Technical
Cooperation A 1t and Prog! Activities 980 818 72 822 104 211 949 429 642 477
CIDAJUNDP Trust Fund for the African Project
Developmont Facility 154 047 149 490 312 127 {8 590} 23 547
Netherlands Trust Fund for tha Special Acticn Progl
for Public Administration and M 2 584 885 187 834 608 549 2 164 170 1 080 663
Trust Fund for Special Economic Assistance Programmes 219 753 16 884 - 236 637 17 046
UNDP Trust Fund for Receipt of Payments by Users of
the African Project Development Facility 654 979 221 553 696 148 180 384 -
CIDAJUNDP Trust Fund to Support to the Projact "Recensement
général da la population et de 'habitst” in Senegal 499 856 52 676 112 415 440 127 66 600
UNDP Trust Fund for the African 2000 Network 5 659 491 1 961 529 6 649 674 971 346 1026 921
UNDP Trust Fund in Support of the Steering Committee
and Secretariat for the United Nations Programms of Action for
African Economic Recovery and Development 244 540 16 608 246 967 14 183 13 540
African Training and Management Services Project 1 084 531 984 219 1761 086 307 664 1877 528
UNDP Afghanistan Emergency Trust Fund 25270 42 113 162 982 {95 599) 408 765
UNDP Fund for the Utitization of the Residual Funds of -
the United Nations Special Relief Office in Bangladesh
590 448 52 915 {28 536) 671 899 206 623
UNDP Fund for Emesgency Assistance to the People’s
Republic of Bangladesh 158 732 15 356 14 777 159 311 -
UNDP Fund for the Programme of Assistance to the
Palestinian People 11 409 782 66 439 362 47 141 478 30 707 666 30 169 188
UNDP Trust Fund for Social Mobilization for
Development 1254 35 1289 - -
UNDP Trust Fund for Emergency Humanitarian Assistance
to Angola 169 206 9 806 179 012 - -
UNDP Trust Fund for Namibia 945 333 597 584 1117 825 425 092 375 586
UNDP/Norway Trust Fund for the Special Plan of
Ecenomic Cooperation for Central America 16 311 1257 (415) 17 983 25 781
UNDP Trust Fund for the Regional Project
*Cultural Heritage and Development” 33883 10 469 - 44 352 30173
UNDP Trust Fund for Protection of the Ozone Layer 50 364 3841 8 069 46 136 19 153
-88-



SCHEDULE 8.1 {continued)

Balance as at Balance as at Unspent

Name of Trust Fund 1 January 1994 Income Expenditure 31 December 1995  Allocations
Trust Fund Agreement between UNDP/IMPACT and the
Malaysian Organizing Committee for Sportsaid ‘88 503 296 26 234 15 360 514 170 70 341
Clobal Consultation on Water Supply and Sanitation
for the 1990s 41 530 4156 (31 910) 77 596 76 295
UNDP Trust Fund for the Republic of Maldives 161 452 (134 675) - 26777 3013
UNDP/Switzerland Trust Fund for Namibia 18 220 (3 404) 14 475 341 -
UNDP/JAIDO {Japan International Development Organization)
Trust Fund for Sea Island Cotton Pilot Production 91 094 7 008 . 98 102 77 578
UNDP Trust Fund for the Independent International
Commission on Health Research for Developing
Countries . 16 675 9 954 26 629 - - b/
World Maritime University Trust Fund 194 688 91 564 176 750 109 502 100 000
Disaster Management Training Programme 34 285 8 282 8 217 34 350 -
Government of Germany Trust Fund for the UNDP/MWorld
Bank Energy Sector Management Assistance Programme 112167 1 362 899 898 216 576 850 -
Elaboration of Methods and Techniques of
Operationalizing the Human Development Concept {33 937) 676 {33 533) 272 33 235
Family Health Internaticnal Trust Fund 1035 444 1479 - - al
Rehabilitation Assistance to Anhui Province
following Flood Disaster 6 546 1M1 6 657 - - 2/
Trust Fund for the FMLN {Frents Farabundo Martf para Ia
Liberacién Nacional) Reiocation Points in El Salvador 711 403 601 258 1 196 470 116 191 78 120
Trust Fund to Mainstream Human Development into
Operational Activities 1445777 91 0938 408 830 1128 045 1 046 290
International Development Research Centre Trust Fund
for Information Management Training Series (11 140) - - {11 140) 3 664
UNDP Trust Fund for the Mozambique Demobilization
Programme 5 565 362 {4 087 204) 1321129 157 029 121 420
UNDP Trust Fund for the Baltic Republics 584 961 1588 936 360 407 1813 490 485 143
Trust Fund for Democratization Support to the Elsctoral
Process in Guinea-Bissau i8 971 1212 239 1198 815 32 395 -
Trust Fund in Support of Peace-buiiding Activities
in El Salvador 4 083 800 2 800 820 3 058 278 3 826 342 399 989
Trust Fund for UNDP History Project 45 977 29 046 50 136 24 887 21 746
UNDP/Denmark Trust Fund for Electoral Assistance
Project in Burundi 150 000 4781 - 154 781 150 000
UNDP/Norway Trust Fund for Assistance to the
Electoral Process in Mozambique 676 361 23 684 929 23 991 979 369 311 1188 237
UNDP Trust Fund for Capacity-building in the Demining
Operation for Cambodia 2432 783 12 594 361 13 909 645 1117 499 1627 141
UNDP Trust Fund for the Council on Heaith Research for
Development - 716 600 671 481 45 119 722 795
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SCHEDULE 8.1 {continued)

Balance as at Balance as at Unspent
Name of Trust Fund 1 january 1994  Income Expenditure 31 December 1995  Allocations

UNDP/Netherlands Crgsnization for | fonal Develop
Cooparation/Group of Resowrce Persons for Awsreness
Crastion for Environmaent snd Sustainable Development in Asia . 56 096 . 56 096 .
UNDP/CIDA Trust Fund for Non-formsi Education:
Youth Centres Project - 767 000 735 497 (28 497) -
Support to the Jeint Group in Ei Salvador - 934 746 871 465 63 281 42 234
Trust Fund on the United Nations Coneolidated inter-Agency
Appeal for Tajikistan - 283 209 - 283 209 -
UNDP/Switzerland Trust Fund for Aid Management
and Ald Coordination in Kyrgyzstan - 592 716 - 592 716 350 000
Sweden Trust Fund for Making the Human Development .
Report and the Human Development index Gender
Sensitive - 1 702 345 999 961 702 384 615 230
UNDP/ADA Trust Fund for the National Environment
Support Programme in Mozambique - 306 848 81 684 225 164 207 919
UNDP Trust Fund for the Mozsmbique Mine-clearance
Programme - 6 783 565 6 388 215 395 350 139 850
UNDP Trust Fund for Urgent Human Needs in Uzbekistan - 816 546 456 758 359 788 199 046
Trust Fund in Support of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs in Kyrgyzstan - 421 639 136 886 284 753 348 323
Trust Fund in Support of National Capacity-building
in External Ald Resources Management - 790 754 - 790 754 1350 000
Trust Fund for the Arsl Sea Basin Programme - 1155 542 423 448 732 094 1183 555
UNDP/Denmark Trust Fund for the Local Initiative Facility for
Urbsn Environment {LIFE} in Urban Aress in Thailand - 383 774 27 253 356 521 372 §57
UNDP/Japan Trust Fund in Support of Reintegration
Activities in Haiti - 2 600 000 - 2 608-000 -
UNDP/Switzerland Pooling Agreement for Technical
Assistance to the Health Sector - 2 011 659 12 503 1999 156 1090 438
Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Cambodia
Resettlement and Reintegration Programme - 2 799 886 1 459 476 1 340 410 1 353 557
Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Programme
for Refugee Reintegration and Rehabifitation of
Resetilement Areas in Eritrea - 2054 795 - 2 054 795 -
Sweden Trust Fund for Support to Demining
Programmes in Cambodia through the Cambodia
Mine Action Centre - 1377 410 - 1377 410 -
Truet Fund for the German Edition of the Human
Davelopment Report {1994 and 1995} - 42 355 47 039 (4 684) -
UNDP Trust Fund for Technical Assistance to
Elecioral Processes - 62 500 - 62 500 -
UMNDP/DEVNET (Deavetopmant Netwerk) Truet Fund for
Technologics) Information Pilot Systems - 160 Q00 120 912 39088 39 088
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SCHEDULE 8.1 (concluded)

Balance as at

Balance as at Unspent

Name of Trust Fund 1 January 1994  Income Expenditure 31 December 1995  Allocation
Europe to Beijing: Gender in Development
Trust Fund - 205 269 51987 153 282 448 527
Sweden Trust Fund to Support Reconstruction
and Reconciliation Activities in Burundi - 142 248 - 142 2438 -
Support to the Employment Generation Programme
in Gaza - 2 513 526 2464 711 48 815 558 324
Sweden Trust Fund for Suppert to the Comprehansive
Disabled Afghans Programme - 389 518 - 389 518 -
UNDP/Lao Peopls's Demacratic Republic Trust
Fund for Clearance of Unexplodsd Ordnance . 338 020 - 338 020 -
UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Science,
Technology and Environment Operation in Lao People’s
Democratic Republic - 246 154 - 246 154 .
UNDP Trust Fund to Support the Peace Process in
North Mali - 1367 647 - 1367 647 -
Sweden Trust Fund for Support to integrated
Crop and Foed Production in Afghanistan - 705 581 - 705 581 -
UNDP Trust Fund for the Evaluation of UNIFEM - 197 061 5 500 191 561 284 110
UNDP/Spain Trust Fund for Support for Governance
in Central America - 11 000 000 - 11 000 000 -
UNDP Trust Fund for Angola . 578 758 - 578 758 .
Trust Fund with Norway for Support for Governance
in Africa - 10 090 190 - 10 090 150 -
Swedish Trust Fund on Etficiency and Effectiveness-
snhancing Massurss within UNDP . 3 685 846 259 219 3 426 627 -
UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund to Support & Financial
Systems Development Project, Angola Phase I - 923 077 - 923 077 -
UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund to Support improved
Handling of Property issues in Nicaragua - 483 532 100 544 382 988 899 457
UNDP/Sweden Trust Fund for Support to the Rural
Rehabilitation Programme in Afghanistan - 409 277 - 409 277 -
UNDRP Trust Fund for Support to the Resident
Coordinstor System - 2 586 207 - 2 586 207 -
United Nations Trust Fund for the Operational
Programme in Lesctho 480 760 28 920 - 509 680 -
UNDP Development Study Programme 367 069 246 754 493 781 120 042 108 195
Total 72 245 001 239 400 818 162 671 759 g/ 148 974 060 70 023 066

&/ This Trust Fund was closed in 1994,
b/ This Trust Fund was closed in 1995.

g/ Includes refunds to UNDP and Governments of $182,218 and $2,879 respectively.
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SCHEDULE 11

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Junior Professional Officers programme: status of funds

for the biennium ended 31

(United States dollars)

ecember 1995

Sources of Balance as at Balance as at
financing 1 January 1994 Receipts Disbursements 31 December 1995
Governments

Australia 9290 822 650 656 880 175 060
Austria 105 760 1593 378 2106 135 {406 997) af
Belgium 854 009 3 906 241 2 003 307 2 756 943
Canada 1048 182 1 650 128 3 554 301 (855 991)
Denmark 1 036 296 8 180 690 7776 627 1 440 359
Finland 986 317 940 673 1294 433 632 557
France 581 694 3 751 497 4 111 422 221 769
Germany 1296 795 3 588 447 3618 450 1 266 792
Ireland 219 - - 219
Italy {373 591) 1413 947 1114 847 (74 491)
Japan (451 580) 3 567 387 2 658 039 457 768
Luxembourg 13 582 545 390 650 468 (91 496)
Netherlands (6 634) 8 933 530 8 297 430 629 466
Norway 825 681 2611617 2 982 264 455 034
Portugal (26 883) 569 133 552 280 (10 030)
Spain (862 643) 1319 635 977 752 (520 760) a/
Sweden 881 629 2634 371 3 145 516 370 484
Switzerland 262 009 903 316 690 391 474 934
United Kingdom {118 267) 578 680 403 694 56 719
Total 6 061 865 47 510 710 46 594 236 6 978 339

&/ At the time of preparation of the financial statements,

Spain.

-105-

$187,183 had been received from Austria and $1,179,971 from




SCHEDULE 12

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Status of bilateral and other resources received under Management Service Agreements
for the biennium ended 31 December 1595

{United States dollars)

Cost of Services b/

Unencumbered

Source Recipient Balance as at income Unliquidated balance as at
of funding country 1 January 1994 received 3/ Disbursements  obligations Total 31 December 1995
Executed by UNOPS
g‘g:;cn:t;nhy Albania 347 108 324 659 558 894 22 472 581 366 90 401
iDB Argentina 4013 124 5878 213 4763 124 176 369 4 939 493 4 951 844
IBRD Argentina 10 589 151 35 315 880 34 288 509 830 857 35 119 366 10 785 665
ltaly Argentina/Uruguay 90 531 6814 2277 - 2277 95 068
Japan Benin 4 663 307 6 112 499 10 336 534 166 630 10 503 214 272 592
Govemnment Bhutan 5 766 40 8 388 - 8 388 { 2582
iDA Bolivia 706 438 1675 364 2 149 031 11 413 2 160 444 221 358
Muitiple Bolivia 12 463 960 - - - 13 423
DB Bolivia 1 140 916 117 759 1095 234 105 030 1200 264 58 411
IBRD Bolivia 636 454 1 891 941 2 031 891 236 275 2 268 166 260 229
Japan Bolivia 60 033 13 136 { 48 943} - { 48 943} 122 112
Bolivia Bolivia 445 571 { 441 167) 4 404 - 4 404 -
Germany Bolivia 53 862 5753 { 1644) - { 1644 61 259
Japan Burkina Faso 429 374 82 748 2 462 - 2 462 509 660
Japan Cambodia - 23 511 640 20 287 607 2612 815 22 900 422 611 218
United States Cambodia - 1611 503 1 600 000 - 1 600 000 11 503
Japan Cameroon 613 004 20 126 575 542 - 575 542 57 588
Japan Central Africa 77 084 3 301 423 1 745 501 1 608 371 3 353 872 24 635
ftaly Central America 1818 403 378 696 1920 203 60 686 1 980 889 216 210
ftaly Chad 59 737 3833 11 157 - 11 157 52 413
Italy Colombia - 61 655 80 944 - 80 944 ( 19 289)
Government Congo { 324 087} 428 476 11 308 - 11 308 93 081
USAID Costa Rica 11275 866 - - - 12 141
IBRD Costa Rica 33018 (2278) 161 - 161 30 579
Italy Cuba 44 918 3 454 - - - 48 372
IDA Djibouti 23 728 1822 - - - 25 550
Government Dijibouti 319 357 21 268 150 860 - 150 860 189 765
Dominica Dominican Republic 71 677 8176 { 1510) - ( 1510 81 363
1BRD Ecuador 4 558 860 24 657 382 19 503 496 2935 635 22 439 131 6777 11
Netherlands Egypt 4 362 474 ( 4817) - { 4817 9 653
laly Egypt 88 399 7 076 { 8193) - ( 8193) 103 668
Italy El Salvador 2985 084 193 723 1413 718 790 559 2 204 277 974 530
Japan El Salvador 993 931 6 588 894 2 691 519 4 145 085 6 836 604 746 221
IFAD El Salvador - 1972 149 2 159 286 267 362 2 426 648 { 454 499) ¢
USAID Eritrea - - 3025 - 3025 { 3025}
ltaly Ethiopia 214 322 15 411 17 084 - 17 084 212 649
IDA Ethiopia 409 541 17 875 381 630 6 303 387 933 39 483
Joint Europe (Regional) 124 904 3823 - - - 128 727
IFAD Guatemala - 254 295 41 878 - 41 878 212 417
Netherlands Guatemala 91 110 7 801 - - - 98 911
IBRD Guatemala 43 900 478 567 326 247 106 061 432 308 90 159
lapan Guinea 1176 417 9371 074 5 527 810 1514 104 7 041 914 3 505 577
htaly Guinea 4198 322 - - - 4 520
Switzerland Haiti - 87 Q00 8 468 74 147 82 615 4 385
Canada Haiti - 186 567 166 236 20 331 186 567 -
IBRD Honduras (66 351) 283 934 95 830 - 95 830 121 753
Japan Honduras 62 253 3 047 65 300 - 65 300 -

-106-



SCHEDULE 12 (continued)

Cost of Services b/
Unencumbered
Source Recipient Balance as at Income Unliquidated balance as at
of funding country 1 January 1994 received g/ Disbursements  obligations Total 31 December 1995
IDA Indonesia 5972 ( 5726) - - - 246
IFAD Indonesia - 460 548 322 995 - 322 995 137 553
Denmark Interregional 4 286 608 426 949 3 167 815 847 224 4015039 698 518
Norway Interregional 621 224 1105 993 541 253 51 592 592 845 1134 372
Sweden interregional - 824 195 202 524 91 760 294 284 529 911
Japan ivory Coast - 10 378 687 1701 419 5451 004 7152 423 3 226 264
Norway Kyrgyzstan 21 020 218 21 020 - 21 020 218
Government Kyrgyzstan 34 17 { 451) - { 451) 502
Denmark Kyrgyzstan - 403 877 247 076 183 001 430 077 { 262000 ¢
Australia Laos 26 933 2 069 - - - 29 002
IBRD Latvia 56 388 2301 36 723 - 36 723 21 966
Japan Madagascar 9884 518 16 000 129 22 556 415 2014 928 24 571 343 1313 304
Japan Mauritania 218 543 4614 385 489 466 2979 724 3 469 190 1363 738
Japan Mali 10 495 5 304 444 4 443 971 799 035 5 243 006 71933
iBRD Mali 37 641 209 825 165 405 9275 174 680 72 786
Mexico Mexico/Colombia/
Venezuela { 12 538) - { 14 423) - { 14 423) 1887
iDA Mongolia 384 118 396 727 539 915 23 363 563 278 217 567
Japan Mongolia 2221022 366 655 851 840 1591 296 2 443 136 144 541
Netherlands Mongolia 76 263 8774 82 882 - 82 882 2155
Japan Niger 9 532 12 139 648 579 013 7 137 400 7716 413 4 432 767
Japan Nicaragua 511 102 14 980 438 12 978 787 4 480 923 17 459 710 (1968 170) o/
IDA Pakistan 6 476 { 6177) - - - 299
ltaly Palestine 9 131 171 2177170 4 147 591 1134 962 5 282 553 6025 788
iBRD Papua New Guinea 273 218 2 263 538 2672 273 245 778 2 918 051 { 381295 ¢
Australia Papua New Guinea 7 602 625 - - - 8227
IDB Paraguay/Argentina/
Bolivia 36 652 4030 756 3 468 175 957 703 4 425 878 { 358 470) o/
Italy Peru/Guatemala/
Zimbabwe 18 703 1437 - - - 20 140
Japan Peru 149 375 38 152 056 22 728 762 1 532 462 24 261 224 14 040 207
1DB Peru - 18 709 393 9 606 556 11 683 953 21 290 509 (2581 116)
Government Peru - 602 590 - - - 602 590
Denmark Phillippines 1 261 18 431 { 422 722) - ( 422 722) 442 414
Australia Phillippines - 406 418 197 2 000 2197 404 221
UsDol Republic of Palau 220 000 2284 182 000 37 634 219 634 2 650
France Regional Africa 730 939 19 215 300 127 8 852 308 979 441 175
Sweden Regional Africa { 10 634) 1308 897 1 288 021 769 1288 790 9473
finland Regional Asia 571 050 31978 423 399 - 423 399 179 629
japan Senegal - 250 000 250 000 - 250 000 -
japan Somalia 357 598 153 127 (1452 345) - (1452 345) 1 963 070
IFAD Somalia - 2 207 729 1875 458 355 167 2 230 625 ( 22 896)
Europesn Commission Somalia - 381 579 182 869 - 182 869 198 710
IBRD Saint Kitts and Nevis 259 846 488 875 464 001 35 200 499 201 249 520
Japan Sao Tome & Principe 828 601 32 351 839 006 - 839 006 21 946
haly Sudan 1104 874 84 897 - - - 1189 771
ltaly Thailand 2 - - - - 2
Finland Thaitand 497 493 665 012 946 846 - 946 846 215 659
IBRD Turkey 1067 703 13 646 309 8 746 729 1291 147 10 037 876 4 676 136
United States Turkey 482 094 34 437 1292 - 1292 515 239
IBRD Uganda 2 197 450 5 460 671 6 449 901 20 185 6 470 086 1 188 035
Sweden Uganda 85 488 307 428 373 444 23 095 396 539 { 3623)
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SCHEDULE 12 (concluded)

Cost of Services b/

Unencumbered
Source Recipient Balance as at Income Untiquidated balance as at
of funding country 1 January 1994 received &/ Disbursements  cobligations Total 31 December 1995
Govemment Uganda - 640 000 - - - 640 000
iBRD Tanzania 218 952 1947 842 1632 518 184 330 1816 848 349 946
Government Tanzania - 235 428 134 035 45 619 179 654 55 774
Australia Vietnam 158 051 12 154 - - - 170 205
IBRD Yemen 9 098 { 8284 415 - 415 399
japan Zaire 193 424 54 505 ( 643 560} 100 000 { 543 560) 791 489
Austraits Zimbabwe - 903 444 1953 - 1953 901 491
73 588 506 287 300 941 227 071 087 59 009 886 286 080 973 74 808 474
Execute other Agencies
Czechoslovakia Interregional 372 379 2 857 - - - 375 236
Total 73 960 885 287 303 798 227 071 087 59009 886 286 080 973 75 183 710

2/ These amounts represent advances received from donors in accordance with Management Services Agreements
entered into by UNDP for the provision of bilateral and other programmes.

b/ These amounts represent the cost of services provided by UNDP in accordance with Management Service Agreements.

¢/ At the time of the preparation of the financial statements, sufficient funds had been received to eliminate the deficit.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. OQObjectives of the United Nations Development Programme {UNDP)

UNDP is part of the United Nations and upholds the vision of the Charter of
the United Nations. It is committed to the principle that development is
inseparable from the quest for peace and human security and that the United
Nations must be a strong force for development as well as peace.

UNDP’s mission is to help countries in their efforts to achieve sustainable
human development by assisting them to build their capacity to design and carry
out development programmes in poverty eradication, employment creation and
sustainable livelihoods, the empowerment of women and the protection and
regeneration of the environment, giving first priority to poverty eradication.

UNDP also acts to help the United Nations family become a unified and
powerful force for sustainable human development and works to strengthen
international cooperation for sustainable human development.

UNDP, at the request of Governments and in support of its areas of focus,
assists in building capacity for good governance, popular participation, private
and public sector development and growth with equity, stressing that national
Plans and priorities constitute the only viable frame of reference for the
national programming of operational activities for development within the United
Nations system.

UNDP resident representatives normally serve as resident coordinators of
the operational activities of the United Nations system, supporting, at the
request of Governments, the coordination of development and humanitarian
agsistance. Resident coordinators also help to orchestrate the full
intellectual and technical resources of the United Nations system in support of
national development.

UNDP strives to be an effective development partner for the United Nations
relief agencies, working to sustain livelihoods while they seek to sustain
lives. It acts to help countries prepare for, avoid and manage complex
emergencies and disasters.

UNDP draws on expertise from around the world, including from developing
countries, United Nations specialized agencies, civil society organizations and
research institutes.

UNDP supports South-South cooperation by actively promoting the exchange of
experience among developing countries.

UNDP supports, within its areas of focus, technology transfer, adaptation,
and access to the most effective technology.

UNDP receives voluntary contributions from almost every country in the
world. UNDP seeks to ensure a predictable flow of resources to support its
programmes. It provides grant funds through criteria based on universality that
strongly favour low-income countries, particularly the least developed.

UNDP is politically neutral and its cooperation is impartial. It seeks to

conduct its work in a manner transparent and accountable to all its
stakeholders.
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UNDP is committed to a process of continuing self-evaluation and reform.
It aims to improve its own efficiency and effectiveness to assist the United
Nations system in becoming a stronger force for the benefit of the people and
countries of the world.

UNDP will continue to support an international development cocoperation
framework that responds to changing global, regional and national circumstances.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial statements reflect the application of the following
significant accounting policies:

(a) Income

Interest income ig accrued as income in the biennium to which it relates.
All other income is accounted for on a cash basis, with the exception of income
accrued on government letters of credit which are irrevocable (see note 12).
Government contributions receivable for the current and prior years are shown in
note 3 for the UNDP account and in note 33 for funds and trust funds
administered by UNDP.

(b) Expenditure

All expenditure of UNDP is accounted for on an accrual basis, except for
that relating to staff entitlements and proijects executed by Governments, which
is accounted for on the basis of cash disbursements only. Project expenditure
includes unliquidated obligations raised by the executing agencies {(other than
Governments), and the following criteria are generally applied:

Experts and other project personnel Costs relating to the pericd of
contractual service falling within the
current biennium up to the amount
provided in the current budget;

Travel on official business Costs of travel taking place in the
current biennium and travel which
commences before the end of the
current biennium but extends into the
next biennium; )

Subcontracts Payments falling due in the current
biennium according to the terms of the
contract or payment schedule;

Fellowships Cost of the fellowship from the
anticipated date of commencement of
study or start of the current biennium
to completion of study or end of the
current biennium, whichever is
earlier;

Group training Full cost of any training activity
held in the current biennium ox
beginning in the current and ending in
the next biennium;
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Equipment Full cost of contractual agreement or
firm order placed with the supplier
prior to the end of the current
biemnium up to the amount provided in
the current budget;

Miscellaneous Cost of events occurred (for example
hospitality), goods or services
delivered or firm orders placed for
delivery in the current biennium.

Commitments may be incurred in the current biennium against future years'’
budgets. These are recorded as forward commitments and reflected in
note 17 (a).

Certain flexibility provisions may be applied to expenditure. In any given
year, expenditure may exceed an approved project budget for that year by $20,000
or 4 per cent thereof, whichever is higher, provided the executing agency does
not incur overall expenditures for that year in excess of 2 per cent of the
total allocations made to it. 1In addition, executing agencies are also
authorized, for an experimental period of three years beginning 1 July 1987
(extended an additional two years in 1990), to record obligations in any year up
to 20 per cent of the project budget of the following year. This arrangement
continues, pending ratification by the Executive Board.

(c) Agency support costs and technical support services

Agency programme support costs denotes the percentage of total project
costs authorized by the Governing Council for payment to the executing and
cooperating agencies and implementing agents to reimburse them for costs
incurred in the administration {technical and otherwige) of UNDP-financed
projects. These support costs are based on total annual programme expenditure.
Certain specialized agencies are under flexibility arrangements and hence the
support costs payable to them are dependent on their total annual programme
expenditure in respect of UNDP-financed projects. Sectoral support costs are
also paid to certain agencies for provision of sectoral advice to Governments
and UNDP. The level of sectoral support and the use of its resources for a
given cycle are determined by the Executive Board.

The Governing Council, at its thirty-eighth session in 1991, adopted
comprehensive legislation on successor arrangements to agency support costs.
These arrangements became effective 1 January 1992, and they are in respect of
all projects approved after that date. They replace the previous support cost
arrangements that were last revised by the Governing Council at its
twenty-seventh and twenty-eighth sessions in 1980 and 1981, respectively. The
major features of the new arrangements are the separation between two distinct
types of technical support services, namely TSS1 and TSS2, which provide
services at the programme and project level, respectively, and administrative
and operational support services (AOS) provided at the project level.
Administrative and operational support services may be obtained from a number of
different implementing agents, including agencies as well as external agents.
Details of the support costs under the previous arrangements and the successor
arrangements are provided in schedule 5.1.

Reimbursement for AOS also applies to projects financed by UNDP-
administered funds and trust funds. UNDP support costs denotes the percentage
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of total project costs as specified in the individual trust fund agreements paid
to UNDP as reimbursement for costs incurred in the administration of the funds.

{d} Exchange rates

Voluntary contributions received from Governments are translated into
United States dollars using the United Nations operational rate of exchange in
effect on the date of payment.

Exchange adjustments arising from the receipt of contributions from
Governments are recorded as increases or reductions to the contributions and are
included in statement I. All other exchange adjustments have been recorded as
other income/expenditure and are shown in schedule 4.

For the purposes of accounting for assets, liabilities and transactions,
and the maintenance of other financial records, other currencies are translated
into United States dollars at the United Nations operational rate of exchange in
effect on the date of the report or transaction.

(e} Capital expenditure

The full cost of non-expendable equipment is charged to the UNDP biennial
budget or to the appropriate project in the biennium in which it is purchased.
An inventory is maintained of all non-expendable equipment, defined as items of
equipment valued at $500 or more a unit and with a serviceable life of at least
five years, and items of equipment included in any special list for which formal
inventory records are maintained.

The value of inventory held at UNDP headquarters as at 31 December 1985
amounted to $23.1 million. The value of inventory held at UNDP country offices
totalled $62.1 million.

(f} Operational reserve

The Governing Council, at its thirty-seventh session in 1990, approved a
change in the basis of calculation of UNDP's operational reserve tc 20 per cent
of the estimated contributions or 20 per cent of projected expenditure,
whichever is higher.

Where applicable, operational reserves of the trust funds are discussed in
notes of the individual funds.

(g} Reserve for Field Accommodation

Activities under the Reserve for Field Accommodation have a characteristic
gimilar to an enterprise which generates income by its capital assets.
Therefore, the cost of office premises, housing and rehabilitation are
capitalized. No depreciation is provided for.

The authorized level of $25 million for the reserve is disclosed in the
"Regerve and fund balances" gection of the balance sheet. This represents the
net equity of the fund, that is, an initial investment made to provide
construction loans to Governments and to build office premises and housings.

The nature of this resexve is distinct from that of other funds which represents
the balance of unexpended resources.
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Note 3. Contributions of Governments and other contributors - General Fund

Contributions due from Governments and other contributors as at
31 December 19595 were as follows:

Veluntary
contributions
for the
Special
Measures Fund
for the Least Cash
Voluntary Developed Cost-sharing counterpart
contributions Countries contributions contributions Total

(United States dollars)

1991 and
prior years 26 154 792 17 77% 15 281 588 5 945 519 47 399 674
1992 1 054 670 - 12 150 5286 645 087 13 890 283
1993 850 115 - 11 594 394 970 009 13 414 518
1594 2 586 447 3 077 14 683 564 2 021 795 19 294 883
1995 6 646 207 - 162 942 753 2 623 221 172 212 181
Total 27 292 231 20 852 216 692 825 12 205 631 266 211 539
Em__m

The amounts in respect of cost-sharing and cash counterpart contributions
are based on budgeted expenditure for the year and will be adjusted on the
rephasing of these budgets.

Since UNDP accounts for its income from contributions on a cash basis,
these amounts are not reflected in the contributions income shown in
statement I. However, if UNDP recorded its income on an accrual bagie, income
from contributions for the biennium would be as follows:

Voluntary contributions $1 815 154 067
Voluntary contributions for the
Special Measures Fund for the

Least Developed Countries 18 513
Cost-sharing contributions 1 194 615 195
Cash counterpart contributions 24 164 094

Total $3 033 951 869

Note 4. Unidentified contributions

Contributions received but not identified as to purpose are held as
accounts payable until identified, at which time they are recorded as income.
At 31 December 1595, $7,093,881 in unidentified receipts were held as accounts
payable. The amount is included in note 15 (b) under miscellaneous accounts
payable.
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Note 5. JAccounting linkage between voluntary contributions and contributions to
local office costs

At its thirty-first session, in 1984, the Governing Council authorized the
establishment of a country-specific accounting linkage between voluntary
contributions (including contributions to voluntary programme costs), and
contributions to local office costs in such a manner that voluntary
contributions are first accounted for against any shortfall in contributions to
local office costs. The total amount of $7,310,562 which was transferred from
voluntary contributions (statement I) in respect of such linkage is included in
the $36,342,785 figure in schedule 2 and shown in note 7.

Note 6. Interest income

The interest income of the General Fund of $§95,221,146 shown in statement I
consists of:

Interest from investments $127 060 S09
Interest on construction loans 250 486
Interest on the medical insurance plan 508 384
Interest on cost-sharing contributions -
transferred to extrabudgetary resources (10 915 928)
Transfer of interest to:
Trust funds (11 793 002)
Management service agreementis (2883 303}
Total $95 221 146

Of the $11,799,002 in interest income transferred to trust funds, the
amount of $2,885,080 was interest earned in the prior biennium. Similarly, of
the $9,883,303 transferred to management service agreements, $4,637,795 was
earned in 1992-1593.

Note 7. Income received for the biennial budget

The amount of $36,342,785 shown in schedule 2 as income received for the
biennium consists of host Government cash contributions to local office costs of
835,931,791 and other income of $410,994.

Host Government cash contributions consist of:

Government local office contributions $28 621 229
Transfers from voluntary contributions 7 310 562
Total $35 931 791

Note 8. Biennial budget expenditure

At its fortieth session, in 1993, the Governing Council approved the
introduction to the 1994-1995 biennial budget of a new appropriation line
entitled "Support to the operational activities of the United Nations". These
administrative costs incurred at the field level had previously been grouped
under core activities. Had the biennial budget format remained as in previous
years, UNDP biennial budget expenditure (gross}, as shown in schedules 1 and 2,
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would have amounted to $452,827,211 and programme support and development
activities to $85,180,066.

Note 9. Provision ;o'reduce the book value of accounts receivable and deferred

charges

The provision, established in 1987, to reduce the deficit in operating the
FAO fisheries vessels pool was reduced to $507,342 to reflect the current book
value of the receivable. The amount of $30,164 is shown in statement I and the
adjusted provision is shown in note 15 (a).

Note 10. <Cagh - General Fund

The amount of $22,002,931 shown as cash in statement II consists of:

Convertible currencies $5 320 235
Usable non-convertible currencies 11 590
Accumulated non-convertible currencies 12 690 262
Cash at country offices 3_980 844

Total $22 002 931

Cash at country offices of $3,980,844 has been reduced by the amount of
uncleared cheques on zero balance accounts totalling $44,388,428.

Note 11. Valuation of cash and investments at the 1 January 1996 United Nations
operational rate of exchange

In accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 2 (d), cash of
the General Fund and IAPSO totalling $25,946,156, as reported in statement II,
and investments totalling $1,551,528,367, as reported in statement II and
schedule 3, include the United States dollar equivalent of cash and investments
in other currencies using the United Nations operational rate of exchange
established on 1 December 1995 and in effect on 31 December 1995. At the United
Nations operational rate of exchange in effect on 1 January 1996, which more
closely reflects the market rate of exchange as at 31 December 1995, the value
shown in the accounts would amount to approximately $146,904 and $829,312 less
for cash and investments, respectively.

The investment figure of the General Fund of $1,551,528,367 includes the
value of bonds and notes of $200,376,121. The total value of bonds and notes
held by UNDP amounts to $207,176,121, of which $6,800,000 is held for UNOPS. If
UNDP’s holdings at the market value at 31 December 1995 were converted to the
United States equivalent using the United Nations operational rate of exchange
in effect on 1 January 1996, the investments would amount to $3,733,562 more
than reported.
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Note 12. Government letters of credit

Government letters of credit amounting to 53,776,106 as shown in
gtatement II, were made to UNDP in respect of cost-sharing for the following
activities:

HIV programme 640 810
United Nations Development Office in Somalia 500 000
Emergency and logistic support in Liberia 1 253 870
Support to the Rwanda human rights
monitoring operations 150 000
Public sector reform in Argentina 1 231 426
Total $3 776 10

As the letter of credit is irrevocable, the amount is presented with cash
and investments in statement II and is included in cost-sharing contributions as
presented in statement I.

Note 13. Forward exchange contracts
UNDP held no forward exchange contracts at 31 December 1595.
Note 1i4. Amounts due from/to trust funds administered by UNDP
UNDP advances Ffunds to, and receives funds for, the trust funds that it

administers. The balance of these transactions as at 31 December 1995 is shown
in schedules 8 and 8.1.

Note 15. Accounts receivable and pavable - General Fund

{a) oOther accounts receivable and deferred charges

The amount of 529,789,884, shown in statement II, comnsists of the
following:

Advances to staff and consultants $8 864 380
Deferred charges 3 618 276
Agency receivables 2 384 978
Miscellaneous field office receivables 13 937 220
Miscellaneous accounts receivable 1 492 372
Subtotal 30 297 226
Legg: provision to reduce the book value
of accounts receivable 507 342
Total $29 789 884
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(b) Accounts pavable

The amount of $57,897,280 shown in statement II consists of the following:

Amounts received in respect of other

United Nations organizations’ programmes $5 317 971
Medical insurance plan fund 9 135 066
Insurance proceeds in respect of the air

crash in the United Republic of Tanzania 41 530
Miscellanecus field office payables 8 768 482
Miscellaneous accounts payable 34 234 231

Contribution from the Government of Norway
for the United Nations Common Coding

System office 400 000
Total $57 897 280

’

Note 16. Allocations for accounting reserves

The Governing Council, at its fortieth session, in 1993, approved the use
of the 1992-1993 budget savings to support a smooth implementation of the
1994-1995 budget strategy. Accordingly, the reserve for transitional measures
and the reserxve for budgeted separations were established with the initial
amounts of $7,200,000 and $6,359,000, respectively.

Based on the same principles, the Executive Board, at its third regular
session, approved additional resources to be set aside for the implementation of
the 1996-1997 budget strategy. In accordance with this decision, %8,400,000 and
$14,000,000 were transferred from UNDP’s general resources to the reserve for
transitional measures and the reserve for budgeted separations.

The unexpended balance of the reserve for transitional measures of
$8,435,774, as shown in statement II, consists of:

Balance in relation to the 1994-19595

budget strategy $ 35 774
Balance in relation to the 1996-1997

budget strategy 8 400 000

Total $8 435 774

The unexpended balance of the reserve for budgeted separations of
512,356,868, as shown in statement II, coneists of:

Balance in relation to the 1994-1995

budget strategy 3 73 958
Balance in relation to the 1996-1997

budget strategy 12 282 910

Total $12 356 868
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Note 17. Unspent allocations and future commitments
{a) Ungpent allocations

Unspent allocations issued against resources of the UNDP account as at
31 December 1955 amocunted to approximately $635 million, against which forward
commitments reported by executing agencies were approximately $54 million.

(b) Leasehold commitments

Future leasehold commitments against the resources of the UNDP account at
31 December 1995 amounted to $11.4 million for country office lease agreements
and $22.9 million for headquarters lease agreements.

Note 18. Contingent liabilities
{(a) Texrmination benefitsg

The contingent liability resulting from the termination benefits that UNDP
will be required to pay to its staff members in future years is estimated, at
31 December 1995, to be $16,670,718 with respect to repatriation grants and
$2,557,478 with respect to termination indemnity.

{b) Tanzania air crash

On 5 December 1980, four UNDP staff members died in an air crash in the
United Republic of Tanzania. As a result, UNDP received insurance proceeds
totalling $623,948 from which it pays compensation to the beneficiaries of the
air crash victims. The balance of proceeds at 31 December 1995 totalled
$41,530. Upon depletion of these proceeds, compensation payments will be
reported as expenditure against the budget of the year to which the payments
relate.

Note 19. TUnliguidated obligations - General Fund

The unliquidated obligations of $122,015,955 shown in statement II consist

of:
Unliquidated obligations of executing
agencies $89 301 721
Unliquidated obligations of the biennial
budget and extrabudgetary activities 32 714 234
Total $122 015 955
Note 20. Outstandi commitments of the R rv ield Accommodation

Unpaid invoices and commitments to contractors and subcontractors against
the Regerve for Field Accommodation totalled approximately $5.6 million as at
31 December 1995.

Note 21. nited Nations Office for Proiect Sexrvices OPS)
{a} The Executive Board, at its annual session in June 1994, agreed to the

eatablishment of the United Nations Office for Project Services as a separate
and identifiable entity effective 1 January 1995. In line with this decision,
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UNOPS financial activities are presented in a separate set of financial
statements. These financial statements of UNDP for the biennium ended

31 December 1995 present the combined activities of UNDP for 1994, while UNOPS
was a part of UNDP, and 1995 which excludes UNOPS.

Had the 1994 figures been restated to remove UNODS’ activities, the income
statement of UNDP for the biennium ended 31 December 1995 would have been
presented as follows:

Income

Contributions from Governments and other

countries $3 044 151 029
UNDP extrabudgetary income 65 453 928
Other income (net) 127 176 407
Total income 3 236 781 364

Lesg: Expenditure

Programme expenditure 2 014 147 021
Programme support costs 321 548 291
UNDP biennial budget expenditure {(net) 328 027 703
UNDP extrabudgetary expenditure 81 745 269
Total expenditure 2 745 468 284

Decrease in provision to reduce the
book value of accounts receivable and

deferred charges (30 164)
Surplus income ' $ 491 343 244

(b) UNOPS earned programme support cost income of $15,402,530 on UNDP-
funded projects during 1994. The related programme support cost expenditure is
included in the $30,629,618 figure in schedule 5.1.

Of this income, UNOPS earned $27,149 on UNDP-funded projects under
Government cash counterpart contributions and $3,217,723 on UNDP-funded cost-
sharing projects. All other income, net of $1,197,317 paid by UNOPS to other
associated agencies on UNOPS-executed UNDP-funded projects amounting to
$10,960,341 as shown in schedule 5.1, was eliminated against total programme
support cost expenditure.

Note 22. Inter-Agency Procurement Services Office {IAPSO)

(a) Accountg pavyable

The amount of $12,795,348 shown in statement ITI represents advances
received relating to direct procurement.

(b) Biennial budget expenditure

IAPSO’s core administrative expenditure of $5,138,086 is included in the
General Fund’s biennial budget expenditure and detailed in schedule 2.
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(c) Bagis of accounting

IAPSO’s direct procurement activity is accounted for on a cash basis. Had
an accrual basis of accounting been followed additional accounts receivable
representing outstandlng customer invoices in the amount of $1,920,000 and
additional accounts payable representing supplier invoices received but not yet
paid totalling $3,670,000 would have been reflected.

Note 23. United Nations Capital Development Fund

{a) Technical subport cogts

The Governing Council, at its thirty-eighth session, in 1991, approved the
establishment of technical support budgets. As shown in schedule 8, technical
support costs incurred in 1994-1995 amounted to $1,749,137 against an allotment
of $1,996,200.

(b) Cash

The amount of $421,616 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

United States dolilar accounts $ 772
Convertible currencies 769
Usable non-convertible currencies 288
Accumulating non-convertible currencies 419 787

Total $421 616

{(c} Loans to Governments

The amount of $9,671,809 shown in schedule 8 represents the total
outstanding loans made by the fund to the Governments of Benin, Botswana,
Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mali, Nepal and Senegal. The status of these loans is as
follows:

Loan amount as Cutstanding loan
Recipient Project at amount as at
country number 1 January 1994 Advances Repayments 31 December 1935
Benin RAF/94/C02 - 200 000 - 200 000
Botswana BOT/87/CC2 3 571 429 - (1 428 572) 2 142 857
BOT/87/C05 4 699 000 - {335 643) 4 363 357
BOT/87/C0O6 2 740 000 - {865 057) 1 874 943
Burkina Fasc RAF/34/C02 - 200 000 - 200 000
Ghana RAF/94/CO2 - 200 000 - 200 000
Mali RAF/94/C02 - 200 000 - 200 000
Nepal NEP/85/C01 435 978 - {145 326) 250 652
Senegal RAF/94/CO2 - 200 000 - 200 000
11 446 407 1 000 000 {2 774 598} 9 671 80

These loans are repayvable over a period of 10 years. The amount due for
1995 and prioxr years is $335,643.
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(d) Extrabudgetary account

The amount of $2,960,599 shown'in schedule 8 represents the unspent balance
as at 31 December 1995 of amounts charged to UNCDF projects for its indirect
costs. The status of this account is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 1994 $2 985 701
Amounts charged to UNCDF projects during

the biennium 2 512 470

S 498 171

Amounts utilized during the biennium (2 537 572)

Balance as at 31 December 1995 $2 960 599

(e) Unliggidated obligations
The amount of $11,034,151 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

Unliquidated obligations of executing

agencies $10 747 658
Unliquidated obligations of biennial

budget, extrabudgetary and other

activities 286 453
Total $11 034 151

(£) Operational reserve

The Governing Council, at its twenty-sixth session, in 1979, approved the
establishment of an operational reserve at the level of at least 20 per cent of
project commitments and contingent liabilities for guarantees entered into by
the Fund in respect of bank loans to Governments, excluding sub-trust fund and
cost-sharing arrangements. 1In line with this decision, the operational reserve
originally established in 1979 was adjusted to $40.2 million in 1995, as shown
in schedule 8.

(g) Unspent allocations

The amount of $209,528,056 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

General resources $204 307 277
Cost-sharing 315 083
Sub-trust funds 4 905 696

Total $209 528 056

The partial funding system was originally approved by the Governing Council
in 1979. At its thirty-fourth session, in 1982, the Governing Council reviewed
the system and modified the formula for calculating the allowable ceiling of
outstanding allocations to be the sum of liquid resources, exclusive of the
operational resexve, plus five years of anticipated voluntary contributions.
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In line with this decision, actual project allocations of $61.5 million
were made in 1994-1995, excluding cost-sharing arrangements and sub-trust funds.
The partial funding system allows a maximum of $226.3 million outstanding future
allocations.

Allocations exceeding cost-sharing resources of $186,718 and sub-trust fund
resources $1,814,810 were issued on the basis of contributions receivable from
Governments and other contributors in the amounts of $20,000 and $3,035,493 for
cost-sharing arrangements and sub-trust funds, respectively. These amounts are
included in the contributions receivable of $5,774,855 shown in note 33,

Note 24. United Nations Revolving Fund for Natural Resources Exploration
{a) Programme expenditure

The amount of $458,317 shown in schedule 8 includes pre-project expenditure
in the amount of $82,654.

{(b) Technical support costs

Technical support costs incurred by the Fund are integral parts of project
budgets and are not part of biennial budget expenditure. The Governing Council,
at its thirty-eighth session, approved the establishment of technical support
budgetg. In line with this decision, technical support costs in the amount of
$491,190 were incurred in 1994-1995 against allotments of $550,000.

(c} Leoans to Governments
The amount of $522,345 shown in schedule 8 represents a loan made by the

Fund to the Government of the Congo repavable over a period of five years. The
amount due on the principal as at 31 December 1995 was $417,876.

{d) Unlicuidated obligations

The amount of $10,280 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

Unliguidated obligations of executing agencies $3 350
Unliguidated obligations of biennial budget & 93¢
Total $10 280

Note 25. Trust Fund to Combat Desertification and Drought

(a) Consolidation of accounts

The Executive Board, at its fortieth session, enlarged the mandate of the
United Nations Trust Fund for Sudano-Sahelian Activities to extend to all
countries affected by drought and desertification. In support of this decision,
the Trust Fund to Combat Degertification and Drought was established by the
Administrator in 1995. The activities of these two funds for the 1994-1995
biennium have been consolidated, as shown in schedule 8. The status of income
received and expenditure incurred for the biennium is as follows:
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United Nations Trust Fund

Trust Fund for to Combat

Sudano-Sahelian Degertification

- Activities and Drought Total

(United States dollars)

Balance as at
1 January 1994 35 030 311 - 35 030 311
Savings on prior biennium'’s
obligations 41 537 - 41 537
Income received 11 718 375 890 010 12 608 385
Expenditure incurred (23 174 109) (4 613) (23 178 722)
Transfers/refunds to donors (244 402) - (244 402)
Balance as at
31 December 1995 23 371 712 885 397 24 257 109

(b} oOther accounts receivable and deferred charges

The amount of $1,295,110 shown in schedule 8 represents the balance due
from UNEP for institutional support and programme support in respect of the Plan
of Action to Combat Desertification in the Sudano-Sahelian region. The status
of contributions received and expenditure incurred as at 31 December 1995 is as
follows:

Institutional Programme
support support Total
(United States dollars)
Balance as at 1 January 1954 60 746 {603 263) {542 517)
Contributions received
From UNEP - 357 000 357 000
From UNDP 753 998 768 086 1 522 084
Expenditure incurred 753 938 1 125 086 1.879 084
By UNEP (341 506) (768 087) {1 109 593)
By UNDP (753 998) (768 086) (L 522 084)
(1 055 504) (1_536 173) (2 631 677)
Balance due from UNEP as at
31 December 1995 $280 760) (1 014 350) (1 295 110)
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{(c) Unligquidated obligations

The amount of $606,885 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

Unliquidated obligations of executing agencies $412 777
Unliquidated obligations of biennial budget 101 994
Unliquidated obligations of UNDP/UNEP joint
venture activities 92 114
Total 5606 885

(d) Management service agreements

The balance of $435,304 shown in schedule B represents the unspent balance
of funds received from donor Governments in respect of management service
agreements between those countries and the Fund. The status of income received
and expenditure incurred as at 31 December 1995 is as follows:

Cost of Unencumbered
Source of Recipient Balance at Income services balance
funding country 1 January 1994 received provided 31 December 1995

{United States dollars}
Australia Eastern and.

Southern Africa - 74 074 (169 062) (94 988)

Sweden Burkina Faso 348 961 198 351 {375 257} 173 055
Sweden Niger 322 768 82 5889 {195 250) 220 107
Sweden Senegal 241 758 277 895 (382 523) 137 130
913 487 643 90S (1 122 0352) 435 304

(e) Extrabudgetary account

The amount of $132,299 shown in schedule 8 represents the unspent balance
as at 31 December 1995 of amounts received from non-core activities. The status
of this account is as follows:

Balance beginning as at 1 January 1994 $ 213 709

Amount charged to sub-trust funds 103 926

Interest income from cost-sharing resources 868 302
Amount transferred from management service

agreements 68 208

1 254 145

Amounts utilized {1 121 846)

Balance as at 31 December 1995 S 132 299
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(£) Unsgpent allocations

The amount of $14,919,491 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

United Nations Trust Fund
Trust Fund for to Combat
Sudano-Sahelian Desertification
Activities and Drought Total

(United States dollars)

General resources 2 981 680 - 2 981 680
Cost-sharing 10 050 331 586 387 10 636 718
Sub-trust funds 1 301 093 - 1301 093

Total 14 333 104 586 387 14 919 451

Allocations exceeding resources of cost-sharing and sub-trust funds
amounting to $4,880,734 and $326,411, respectively, were issued on the basis of
contributions receivable from Governments in the amounts of $7,919,230 for cost-
sharing and $243,077 for sub-trust funds. These amounts are included in the
contributions receivable amount of $9,141,055 shown in note 33.

Note 26. United Nations Volunteers Programme
(a) Recovery of external costs

The Governing Council, at its thirty-ninth session, in 1992, revised the
guidelines for the use of the Special Voluntary Fund and the procedures for
recovery of external costs. It was decided that except in situations where
special financing is available, the external costs of volunteers will be charged
fully to project budgets on the basis of a pro forma cost. Any difference
between pro forma costs and actual costs will be absorbed by the Special
Voluntary Fund.

During the biennium, external costs totalling $9,117,769 were recovered and
credited as income of the Fund. This amount is shown as part of other income of
$9,304,862 in schedule 8.

(b) oOther accounts rgceivablé and deferred charges

The amount of $1,335,931 shown in schedule 8 includes the balance of
amounts due from the United Nations of $655,803 as at 31 December 1995 for the
purpose of funding specific projects through memoranda of understanding between
UNV and the United Nations. The status of this account is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 1994 $ (990 505)

Income received 3 608 38
2 617 878

Expenditure incurred (3273 681)

Balance due from the United Nations as
at 31 December 1955 $ (655 803)
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(c) Proiects financed by Governments

The amount of $4,285,591 shown in schedule 8 as other liabilities,
represents the unspent balance as at 31 December 1995 of resources provided by
donor Governments for the financing of specific projects. The gtatus of this
account is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 1994 83 611 733
Income received 9 3591 038

13 002 771,
Expenditure incurred {8_717 180)
Balance as at 31 December 1995 $4 285 591

The unspent balance of $4,285,591 represents advances to meet costs for
current volunteer assignments and hence is not available for further
programming.

(d}) Unliguidated obligations
The amount of $206,134 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

Unliguidated obligations of extrabudgetary

activities $179 784
Unliquidated obligations of Special Voluntary Fund
activities 11 350
Unliquidated obligations of sub-trust funds 15 000
Total $206 134

(e) Extrabudgetary account

The amount of $2,231,429 shown in schedule 8 represents the unspent balance
as at 31 December 1995 of amounts received from non-core activities. The status
of this account is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 199%4 $2 102 340
Income/adjustments 2 192 713

4 295 053
Expenditure incurred (2_063 624)
Balance as at 31 December 1985 2 231 429

(f} Special Voluntary Fund

The Governing Council, at its thirty-ninth session, in 1992, decided that
the income accruing to the Special Voluntary Fund, from voluntary contributions
and interest income, would be utilized to meet expenditures for pilot and
experimental projects, briefing of UNV specialists and the training of Domestic
Development Services country specialists and field workers, special recruitment
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campaigns, and other projects of a similar nature. Prior to this decision,

85 per cent of the income accruing to the Special Voluntary Fund was used to
meet external costs of volunteers. Project budgets were charged an assessed
amount to cover external costs that were not met by the Special Voluntary Fund.

(g) Unspent allocations

The amount of $19,721,963 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

General resources $ 6 9598 756
Sub-trust funds 12 723 207
Total $19 721 963

Of the unspent allocations of general resources, $4,527,750 represents
estimated commitments in respect of repatriation travel and resettlement
allowances for serving volunteers as at 31 December 1995,

Note 27. United Nations Fund for Science and Technology for Development
(a) Extrabudgetary account
The amount of $9,903 shown in schedule 8 represents the unspent balance, as

at 31 December 1995, of amounts charged by the Fund to its sub-trust funds as
support costs. The status of this account is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 1994 $10 2956

Expenditure incurred (393)
Balance as at 31 December 1995 5.9 903

(b) Unspent allocations

The amount of $680,887 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

General resources $538 591
Cost-sharing 38 832
Sub-trust funds 103 464

Total $680 887

Allocations exceeding cost-sharing resources in the amount of $4,688 were
issued on the basgis of contributions receivable from Govermments in the amount
of $52,556. This amount is included in the contributions amount of $826,814
shown in note 33. ‘

Note 28. United Nations Development Fund for Women

{a) Technical support costs
The Governing Council, at its thirty-eighth session, in 1991, approved the

establishment of technical support budgets. Technical support costs amounting
to $1,164,914 were incurred in 1994-1995 against allotments of $1,237,500.
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{(b) Unligquidated obligations

The amount of $605,312 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

Unliquidated obligations of executing agencies $418 619
Unliquidated okligations of biennial budget 186 €93
Total 5605 312

(c) Operational reserve

The Governing Council, at its thirty-fifth session, in 1988, approved the
establishment of an operational reserve. At its thirty-seventh session, in
1990, the basis of calculation was revised to set the level of operational
reserve uging a sliding percentage scale applied to the Fund’s forward
commitments for a period of three years.

At its annual session in 1995, the Executive Board temporarily suspended
the reguirements of the operational reserve. However, a notional operational
regerve is reported according to the current basis of calculation to ensure
financial transparency.

The operational reserve as at 31 December 1995 would have been get at
$8.5 million. However, the balance of unexpended general resources would only
allow a maximum funding of the operational reserve at $4.1 million.

(dy Full funding system

The partial funding system was approved by the Governing Council in 1988,
at its thirty-£fifth session. In 1995 the Executive Board decided that UNIFEM
would coperate on a full funding basis for all new commitments entered into after
1 January 1995.

The Executive Board also granted UNIFEM the use of the UNDP overdraft
facility during the period 1995-1997 up to a maximum drawdown of $4.5 million to
cover its prior commitments. No drawdown from the overdraft facility was made
as at 31 December 1995.

{e) Unspent allocations

The amount of $20,730,69%2 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

General resources $13 124 363
Cost-sharing 5 790 899
Sub-trust funds 1l 815 430

Total $20 730 692

Allocations exceeding resources of cost-sharing and sub-trust funds
amounting to $3,671,635 and $208,772, respectively, were issued on the basis of
contributions receivable from Governments in the amounts of $1,519,900 for
cost-sharing and 514,874 for sub-trust funds. These amounts are included in the
contributions receivable amount of $2,051,005 shown in note 33.
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Note 25. UNDP Enerqgy Account

(a) Unligquidated cbligations

The amount of $64,473 shown in schedule 8 consgists of:

Unliquidated obligations of executing agencies $63 221
Unliquidated obligations of administrative budget 1 252
Total 564 473

(b) Unspent allocations

The amount of $4,873,434 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

General resources and cost-sharing 84 867 448
Sub-trust funds 5 986
Total $4 873 434

Allocations exceeding general and cost-sharing resources of $130,679 were
issued on the basis of contributions receivable from Governments in the amount
of $1,315,569 shown in note 33.

Note 30. Trust Fund for the Global Environment Facility
(a) Unligquidated obligations

The amount of $10,691,038 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

Unliquidated obligations of executing agencies $10 502 461
Unliquidated obligations of administrative budget 188 577
Total $10 691 038

(b) Unspent allocations

The amount of $138,823,121 shown in schedule 8 consists of:

General resources $133 800 8954
Cost-sharing 1 867 322
Sub-trust funds 3 154 905

Total $138 823 121

The unspent allocations for general resources include $2.1 million
allocated for the Small Grants Programme. Allocations exceeding general
regources in the amount of $99.8 million were issued on the basis of letters of
commitment from the World Bank confirming allocations of $344.5 million to UNDP.
Funds are remitted by the World Bank asg required by UNDP. To date, a total of
$181.6 million has been received.
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Note 31. ‘“"Capacity 21" Trust Fund

The amount of $504,570 shown in schedule 8 as unliquidated obligations
consgists of:

Unliquidated obligations of executing

agencies $472 917
Unliquidated obligations of administrative

budget : 31 653

Total $504 570

Note 32. Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol

The amount of $18,991,528 shown in schedule 8 as unliquidated obligations
congists of:

Unliguidated obligations of executing

agencies $18 935 2386
Unliquidated obligations of administrative
budget 56 142
Total ; $18 991 528
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